# THE COSTS OF NET LABOR ADJUSTMENTS

# IN ROMANIA

Ву

Alina Nastasoiu

Submitted to Central European University Department of Economics

In partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Master

Supervisor: Professor John S. Earle

Budapest, Hungary 2010

#### Abstract

The downsizing in the large manufacturing plants and the growth of the private sector during the transition in Romania were both accompanied by reorganizations and large adjustments in the labor force. This paper attempts to estimate the size and structure of the labor adjustment costs at firm level, by assuming a model of the labor adjustment similar with the "q" models of investments with adjustment costs. The first order conditions of the model that show the optimal level of downward and upward adjustments are estimated with the Heckman correction to take into account the sample bias induced by the firm-year observations that do not make any change in the number of employees. The adjustment cost function comprises different fixed, linear and quadratic parameters for the upward and downward adjustment and the results are estimated separately for 9 manufacturing sectors between 1994 and 2001. The findings show that the only relevant parameter for the upward adjustment is the linear one, while in the case of the downward adjustment all the parameters are statistically significant, but the estimated linear parameter is negative in all the industries. However, compared with the yearly wage bill, the estimated adjustment costs (benefits) are negligible, suggesting that the rigidity of the Romanian transition does not lie in the labor market.

# Acknowledgements

I would like to thank my supervisor John S. Earle for his full support and to Labor Project members Álmos Telegdy and Ruxandra Ștefan for providing me the data.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

TABLE OF CONTENTS	1
INTRODUCTION	3
Temporal aggregation	5
Spatial aggregation	6
Previous research	6
CHAPTER 1 – THE DATA	10
Data cleaning	10
Descriptive statistics	12
CHAPTER 2 – THEORETICAL MODEL AND EMPIRICAL STRATEGY	18
The Model	
Empirical strategy	20
CHAPTER 3 – THE RESULTS	26
The estimated equations	26
The Probit Model	26
Downward adjustment equation	
Upward adjustment equation	31
Model discussion	
Adjustment function parameters	34
Statistical significance	34
Economic impact	
Employment protection legislation and unemployment rate	37
CONCLUSION AND FURTHER PATHS OF RESEARCH	41
APPENDIX A – MACROECEONOMIC CONTEXT	i
APPENDIX B – DATA CLEANING	ii
APPENDIX C – DESCRIPTIVE STATISTICS	iii

APPENDIX D – ESTIMATED RESULTS	ix
APPENDIX E – SHAPE AND SIZE OF THE ADJUSTMENT COSTS	‹v
REFERENCESx	xi

### INTRODUCTION

The 1990s have been a period of active restructuring in the Romanian manufacturing sector, which was over-sized by market economy standards. As shown in Table A1, the employment in manufacturing decreased continuously between 1994 and 2001, even more sharply than the overall employment, which during this period fell with about 28%. Based on Labor Force Survey data, John Earle (1998) finds that, despite the large decrease of employment in industry, between 1993 and 1995 the inflows into this sector are significant, suggesting "some dynamism and not a mere collapse" (1998, p. 9). Moreover, as I will show, between 1994 and 2001 the large Romanian manufacturing firms were making major, mostly downward, adjustments in their labour force, while the small firms were making small and mostly upward adjustments.

It seems thus that the restructuring process was not a homogenous and blunt downsizing, but rather it was associated with large changes and reorganizations of the labor force. The aim of this paper is to estimate the structure and magnitude of the labour adjustment costs that accompanied the restructuring process. In a period when massive transformation in the industrial outlook was needed, a flexible labor market with low adjustment costs would have been a catalyst to the transition process, but on the other hand it would have been likely to offer less protection to the employees. Estimating the precise size and shape of the adjustment cost as a function of the size of the adjustment would offer a clear image of the role played by these costs in the response of firm's demand for labor inputs. This would constitute a necessary contribution to the better understanding of the mechanisms underlying the Romanian transition, especially since, to my knowledge, no such study exists yet.

Most of the costs associated with changes in the number of employees are not observable and measurable – for example there is no data on the costs associated with the disruption that a new worker causes in the production process, or the costs of dismissing a worker, or the searching costs (advertising the job opening, human resource personnel to handle the selection process, etc.) that a company incurs when looking for a new worker. But these costs do affect the decisions taken by firms with respect to the changes they make in their labor input, so this is why it is important to estimate them, in order to uncover the adjustment paths that firms make in response to shocks.

Since the Romanian transition is much skewed towards downsizing, there is little reason to assume symmetric costs of increasing and decreasing the labor force; in consequence, I estimate separate functions for the upward and downward movements in the labor force. Also, since the production functions are very different across industries in manufacturing, I estimate these costs separately for 9 manufacturing industries that have the largest number of firm-year observations between 1994 and 2001. Table A1 shows that a significant share of the employees in manufacturing are hired in the 9 sectors included in the sample – this share ranging from 34% in 1994 to 61% in 2000 – confirming thus that the industries with the largest number of firm-year observations throughout this period also employ a large share of the labor force in manufacturing.

The most important findings of the literature on labor adjustment costs up to 1996 are well presented in Daniel Hamermesh and Gerard Pfann's review. One of the points that they stress in this paper is the difference between net and gross costs of adjustment. Net adjustment takes into account only the difference in the number of employees from one period to another (like snapshot images) and disregards the inflows and outflows of employees that led to those specific modifications (Hammermesh and Pfann, 1996, p. 1266). Since the data set that I use does not provide any information on the flows of workers at plant level, I focus on the net costs of adjustment.

#### Temporal aggregation

The frequency of observations is critical in analysing the costs of labor adjustment. In the absence of information on the gross flows, low frequency data may fail to reveal any change in the labor force if the outflow of workers is equal to the inflow, or it may reveal a small net change that actually hides large but comparable gross changes in both directions – which can actually incur substantial adjustment costs.

Knowing the time intervals between firms' decisions about whether or not to alter their factor demand and estimating the adjustment costs on data of that specific frequency would be the first best approach. Unfortunately, information on the timing of decisions can only be obtained in extensive interviews with human resource managers. But, as Hamermesh and Pfann suggest, in most for-profit firms, especially in the large ones that make more refined projections of future demand, plans are likely to be revised more frequently than once a year (1996, p. 1277). This implies that quarterly or even monthly data is better suited in the analysis of adjustment costs.

Low frequency data biases the results against lumpy costs. The intuition behind this statement is that large fixed costs of adjustments induce companies to make large and infrequent changes, which are not well captured by data points at long time intervals. As Jose Varejao and Pedro Portugal point out, "temporal aggregation is expected to bias the estimates against non-linear models because it implies that all activity that is, partly or fully, reversed within the course of one year is missed by annual data." (2007, p. 15)

For example, for a firm that incurs lumpy costs for both the negative and the positive adjustments, and makes a large negative adjustment at the beginning of the year, followed by a large positive adjustment at the end of the year, the net adjustment from one year to another will appear to be very small, and this small adjustment will erroneously appear to be the result of convex costs. But if the firm makes adjustments only in one direction (either in a lumpy fashion or in small steps), the yearly adjustment appears to be large and is thus more likely to be linked to the lumpy costs. As I will show, the autocorrelation in the yearly change in the number of employees for the Romanian firms is positive, which suggests that indeed there is a trend in the pattern of adjustment of each firm (i.e. there are firms that systematically expand and firms that systematically contract) and thus the temporal aggregation problem is mitigated in the sample that I use.

#### Spatial aggregation

As I have showed, temporal aggregation can induce bias in the estimation; spatial (cross-sectional) aggregation also leads to the same types of problems. As Hamermesh and Pfann (1996) point out, observing smooth adjustment based on data describing industries or higher aggregates over time is uninformative about firms' structures of adjustment. If in each period some fraction of firms adjust their labor force and the others do not, the aggregate image of adjustment will look smooth, while each firm actually changes its labor force in a lumpy and infrequent fashion. The findings in the literature agree on the necessity of estimating the adjustment costs at plant level and then aggregating over these plant-level patterns in order to obtain the macro image (Hamermesh, 1989).

To sum up, the findings in the literature suggest that high-frequency data at firm level is the best for estimating the size and structure of the labor adjustment costs. In this paper I am using a panel of yearly data at firm level, which, admittedly not the best, is the only frequency available for the Romanian firms. But, as pointed earlier, the fact that there is constancy in the direction of adjustment at firm level mitigates the problem of simultaneous positive and negative gross flows within a year being hidden by small observed movements in employment.

#### Previous research

If there is a wide agreement on the necessity of estimating the adjustment costs on high frequency plant data, this is not the case with respect to the methods of estimation and results obtained. One of the main problems in dealing with adjustment costs is that these costs are not directly observed. Anderson (1993) circumvents this problem by using data in 6 states that have "experience rated unemployment insurance systems" in which the unemployment benefits are paid from a common pool at which each firm contributes. The future contribution of each firm is determined as a function of the unemployment benefits that are currently paid to the former employees of the firm; thus an important share of the expected costs of further firings are observable and measurable. She estimates that in the retailing sector (a sector with high and predictable seasonal component) at the end of the 70's and beginning of the 80's, a 10 percent increase in the expected costs associated with firings tax costs produces a 1.3 percent increase in the probability the firm will take no action towards decreasing its workforce.

Bentolila and Bertola (1989) derive a model of labor adjustment inspired from financial models of asset pricing. More specifically, they consider the marginal worker as a dividend-paying asset, with the dividend equal to the (positive or negative) excess of their marginal productivity over the wage received, until the worker quits. "When a worker is hired at the margin, the value of such an asset should equal the out-of-pocket cost, plus the value of the (forsaken) call option to delay the hiring decision, minus the value of the newly acquired put option to fire him/her" (p. 385). Their aim is to explain the sclerotic European labor market that followed the two oil shocks. The findings indicate that after the shocks, firms became more reluctant to hire, and in the same time the quit rate decreased.

Cooper et al. (2003) and Lapatinas (2009) follow very similar approaches in estimating the costs of labor adjustments. Their methodology is to set the dynamic programming problem of the firm that in each period chooses whether to change (and incur the adjustment costs) or not its employment (and in the first case also how much to alter the employment level) in order to maximize the sum of future discounted profits. The function of adjustment costs is symmetric and includes convex, fixed and disruption parameters which are estimated through the method of simulated moments. The only difference in the two models is that Cooper et al. also take into account the adjustment in the number of hours, as information on the number of hours worked is available in the quarterly data on US manufacturing plants between 1972-1980 that they use, while Lapatinas uses yearly data between 1998 and 2004 in the Greek manufacturing sector, where information on hours worked is not available. In the first paper the estimated costs of labor adjustment are only 0.24% of profits, while in the second paper the results show an amazingly high fixed cost of 29% of a yearly wage for each worker that is being hired or fired, even though the Greek author uses a yearly balanced panel, excluding thus the firms that exit the market in the analyzed period, which potentially induces a downward bias in the estimated costs of adjustments, since the exit probability could be correlated with the level of adjustment costs.

The model that I am using is inspired by Tobin's q models of investment with adjustment costs, where an investment is made only if its shadow value is larger than its cost. In the same fashion, in this model the firms are assumed to make adjustments in their labor force only if the costs of these adjustments are less than the benefits. Allowing for fixed, linear and convex costs, in the first step, I estimate an ordered probit equation to determine the probabilities of the three types of adjustment (negative, positive or non-adjustment) for each firm-year observation. In the second step, I estimate the first order conditions that show the optimal level of downward and respectively upward adjustment, adding the inverse Mills' ratios as regressors, in order to take into account the sample bias introduced by those firm-year observations which do not adjust at all. Two auxiliary regressions and the estimation of the FOCs allow retrieving estimates of the parameters of the cost function.

Applying a very similar version of this model on Norwegian yearly plant data between 1986 and 1995, Nielsen et al. (2007) find that the cost of downward adjustment is

8

larger than the costs of upward adjustment (the fixed component is significant only for labor contractions) and moreover that "for large plants the quadratic components are the dominant ones" (2003, p.22).

The wide gamut of results obtained in the literature on labor adjustment costs, leaves open the range of expectations for adjusting costs on the Romanian labor market. Large estimated costs of adjustment would complete the image of the slow Romanian transition being a consequence of the rigidities in the labor market, but on the other hand small costs of adjustments would not be surprising either, in a context of large unemployment rates that insure a large pool of easily available potential employees, that decreases the expansion costs and in the context of low awareness of the employment protection legislation among employees, which limits the contraction costs.

The paper is organised as follows: the first chapter describes the process of cleaning the data and presents the representative statistics of the firm-year observations from which the adjustment costs are estimated. Chapter 2 presents the theoretical model and the empirical strategy associated with the model, while Chapter 3 presents the results of the main regressions and the estimated parameters of the adjustment cost function, as well as their economic significance. Moreover, this chapter relates the estimated adjustment costs to the employment protection legislation and to the unemployment rate, which were characteristic to the Romanian transition, as robustness checks for the findings on the adjustment costs. The Conclusion develops further paths of research that can be followed in the light of the results presented in this paper.

### **CHAPTER 1 – THE DATA**

The data is an unbalanced panel extracted from the annual balance sheet that the firms have to submit at the Romanian Ministry of Finance, therefore, it contains yearly information on operating income, wages and the number of employees of 40,705 firms in 9 manufacturing sectors across 8 years, from 1994 to 2001 - 188,857 firm-year observations in total.

In order to ensure comparability across years, the operating income and the wages were adjusted by the Consumer Price Index reported by the National Institute of Statistics, thus all the prices are expressed in 1997 Romanian lei.

#### Data cleaning

Observations contain data on the two-digit industry code of each firm. Since there were cases when the industry was not consistent across years, the industry variable had to be cleaned. In the dataset that comprised all the firms in all the industries, when there was just an outlying year, I ignored it and inferred the industry from the other years (for example when a firm appeared to be in textiles for only one year and in apparel industry for the rest of the years, I considered the industry to be apparel). When there was just one switch, I considered that the firm changed industry and consequently considered the firm in a certain industry for the first period and in another industry for the second period. Then I picked from this database the year-firm observations in the 9 industries that I analyze.

Thus, out of the 40,705 firms in the sample, 17,866 (i.e. approximately 43.9%) did not display any change in industry; 17,056 (or 41.9%) had some outlying year in which the industry was different from the rest of the years; the rest – 5783 (or around 14.2%) had more than an outlying year. These firms in the last category either appear in the sample as

belonging to different industries in different years (if the industries between which they switch are among the 9 industries which I analyze), or appear in the sample only in those years when they were in one of the analyzed industries. This cleaning process lead to the following outcome: 86.5% of the firms in the sample appear just in one industry, 12.3% appear in 2 industries and only 1.2% appear in 3 or 4 industries. When there are more frequent switches between industries i.e. when the firm appears in less than 4 consecutive years in an industry, or less than 4 consecutive years in the sample, the firm is automatically dropped from the analysis of the adjustment costs, since I run each regression separately for each industry and for the first regression I use data on 4 consecutive years.

As the paper focuses on the costs of labour adjustment, I excluded from the analysis those observations with outliers in the change of labor force. Defining the outliers only in absolute terms, or only in relative terms would not have been proper, since the small and large firms have different patterns of adjustment. For example, a firm that increases the number of employees from 1 to 2 (i.e. with 100%) cannot be considered an outlier, while a firm that increases the number of employees from 10.000 with 100% within a year definitely is an outlier.

In order to better spot the outliers, I plotted two types of scatter diagrams: in the first I plotted the absolute vs. relative change in employment  $(\frac{L_t - L_{t-1}}{L_{t-1}})$  from one year to another and in the second I plotted the absolute change in employment vs. change in employment as a share of the existing (current) employment  $(\frac{L_t - L_{t-1}}{L_t})$ . The second is more useful in detecting the outliers in negative adjustments. Figure B1 shows the first type of scatter plot on the left column and the second type on the right column, progressively zoomed in; the last figures in each column show the data that I am actually using in the estimation. Even after removing the obvious outliers, the data points in the bottom figures still look scattered,

reflecting either the active restructuring in the 9 manufacturing sectors that I analyze, or errors in the data, which are quite plausible since panels are more sensitive to data errors (for example the number of employees reported with error in a certain year induces errors in the data on labor adjustment both in the current and consequent year). 210 outliers were excluded based on this visual representation. I also plotted average cost per worker (salary and associated taxes) and average future operating income per current number of workers and eliminated further 70 visible outliers. In the end out of the 40,705 firms and 188,857 firm-year observations, 40,701 firms and 188,577 firm-year observations remained.

#### **Descriptive statistics**

Since smaller firms are likely to have different patterns of adjustment than large firms, I divided the firms into 4 size classes according to the average number of employees that they had across time. The first class comprises micro firms, which had an average number of employees between 1 and 10; the second class comprises small firms with an average number of employees between 10 and 50; firms with an average employment between 50 and 250 are considered medium, while firms that had on average more than 250 employees are considered large. Figure C1 shows that the data set is dominated by micro firms (67%), followed by small firms (22.2%) and then medium (7.3%) and large firms (3.5%).

Table C1 presents statistics regarding the number of employees (L) and the difference in the number of employees from one year to another ( $\Delta$ L) across size classes. While the micro and small firms had on average positive and small adjustments, the average change in employment of the medium firms was negative and quite small (-0.31) and the average change in employment of the large firms was large in absolute terms and negative (-59.9). The large standard deviations, as well as the large differences between the median and the mean value of the change in employment point to the irregular patterns of adjustment, that still comprise outliers even after the data was cleaned.

Further differences in the pattern of adjustments between different size classes are presented in Table C2. While the micro firms are almost as likely to reduce/ keep constant / expand their employment, the larger the firm, the more likely it is to make a negative adjustment. Thus, only 27.3% of the micro firms have a negative  $\Delta L$ , while 34% of the small, 48.1% of the medium and almost 70% of the large firms make negative adjustments. Consequently, larger firms are less likely to keep their employment unchanged. But considering that very small fluctuations in the labor force of large firms cannot be directly linked to the costs of adjustment, in the empirical analysis I consider the employment to remain unchanged even if it fluctuates with less than  $\pm 1\%$ . Table C3 shows the types of adjustments over size classes under this rule. As expected, for the micro and small firms the distribution remains the same, while the number of non-adjustments increases from 449 to 602 for the medium firms (or from 4.1% to 5.5%) and from 88 to 467 (or from 1.4% to 7.6%) for the large firms. At the level of the whole sample, in 38.3% of the firm year-observations there is an upward adjustment, in 28.7% there is non-adjustment and in 33% of the observations there is contraction in the labor force from one year to another, reflecting the balanced distribution of the firm-year data points across contraction, non-adjustment and expansion. It is also important to notice that in 52.9% of the total firm-year observations of small the firms there are positive adjustments – these type of firms having a small but steady increase in the labor force.

As Tables C2 and C3 showed the differences in adjustment among size classes in absolute terms, Table C4 presents these differences as relative adjustments:  $\%\Delta L = \frac{L_t - L_{t-1}}{L_{t-1}}$ . This table shows that approximately 69.5% of the large firms have negative adjustments, while approximately 45.7% of the small firms have relative adjustments greater

than 10%, reflecting again the downsizing of the large companies that is accompanied by the growth of the small ones.

The autocorrelation of  $\Delta L$  is positive but rather small in all class sizes, except micro where it is negative and small – as can be noticed from Table C5. But as the autocorrelation takes into account the size of the adjustment, it is not the most relevant indicator of the existence of a trend. For example if firms make large negative adjustments in the odd years and low negative adjustments in the even years, the autocorrelation will appear negative, even though firms make only negative adjustments. For this reason, in Table C5, I included the absolute number and the share of negative adjustments that are followed by negative adjustments, negative adjustments that are followed by positive adjustments, and so on. The table reveals that in 35.3% of the firm-year observations a negative or positive adjustment is followed by the same type of adjustment, while only in 23% of the firm-year observations two consecutive adjustments have different signs. The rest of 41.6% of the observations have one of the two consecutive adjustments equal to 0. Even though the findings in this table do not provide any insight on the pattern of adjustment within years, the message that they convey is that in many cases, within firms, there is a trend in the pattern of adjustment from one year to another, pointing to the that systematic adjustments in one direction or another at firm level.

The differences across years in the pattern of adjustments are shown in Figure C21. The bars represent the share of positive (I – from increase), negative (D – decrease) and zeroadjustments (C – constant) in each year. Even though the differences between years do not seem to reveal any particular pattern, the graph shows that in the early years most of the adjustments made by the firms in the sample were upward; also, the share of non-adjustments was increasing from 1995 to 1999, and then decreasing again in 2000 and 2001. But, as showed previously, as 67% of the firms in the data set are micro, most these adjustments take place within the micro firms. Figure C22 shows this pattern more clearly: in each year and in each category (I/C/D) most of the adjustments are made by the micro firms, followed by the small firms. Figure C22 also shows the relative large share of negative adjustments in large firms in 1995.

The foods and drinks industry is the best represented in the sample with 46,336 firmyear observations, while the industry with the fewest observations is leather (8,526). Table C6 shows the distribution of the industries across size classes. Again, in each industry, most of the firm-year observations comprise micro firms, even though in the leather industry only 55.9% of the observations are micro, while in the rubber and plastic industry 77.5% of the observations are micro. In all the industries the fewest firm-year observations are for the large firms, the most extreme case being the typography industry, where there are only 103 firmyear observations for large firms. This table shows that there are no large differences in the distributions of firms across size classes in the 9 industries.

Table C7 shows the average adjustment ( $\Delta L$ ) in each industry. With the exception of the apparel industry, where the average adjustment in the large firms is close to 0, but still positive, in all the other industries, the average adjustment is negative for large the firms. Also, the average adjustment is positive for the small firms in all industries. Even though among industries the average adjustment in the large firms ranges from -144 in typography to almost 1 in the apparel industry, this uniformity suggests that firms in the same size class tend to have similar adjustment patterns, regardless of their industry.

As shown in Table C8, the average adjustment was negative in all the industries in 1995, and in 1998 and 1999 it was negative for all the industries except apparel. Also, 1995 was the year with the smallest average adjustment in all the industries, save for rubber and plastic and furniture. The broader economic conditions seem thus to have similar effects at industry level.

It is known that state companies can be used as a means of keeping low levels of unemployment; therefore the pattern of adjustment of state firms could be different from that of private firms. In this sample I created 3 dummies to account for this effect. The first, *state* is 1 for all those firms where state ownership remained equal or larger than 50% between 1995 and 2000 and 0 otherwise; *privatised* is 1 for the firms which became entirely or more than 50% private in this period, and 0 otherwise; and *private* is 1 for the firms where the state had had less than 50% ownership throughout the period. I choose 2000 as the last year of reference for the ownership form, since in the regressions I use forward values over two periods as regressors, so the last year with available dependent variable in the dataset is 1999.

Private firms are considerably smaller than state or privatised firms in all industries – as shown in Table C9. The industries with the largest private firms are textile, apparel and leather. In some sectors (food and drinks, textiles, apparel and rubber and plastic) the average number of employees of the companies that became private is larger than the average number of employees of the firms that remained in state's ownership. Also, as presented in Table C10, the private firms have positive average adjustments in all industries, with the exception of metal. In all industries, with the exception of the rubber and plastic industry, the average adjustment is more negative in the state firms, than in the privatised firms. Since the previous table shows that in several industries state firms are larger than the privatised ones, it is possible that the larger negative adjustment in the state firms reflects just the difference in sizes. In order to account for this possibility, Table C10 presents also the relative adjustment for each type of industry accross the ownership forms. The relative adjustment is also larger in absolute value in the state firms, with the exception of typography where the average relative adjustment is -9.19% in the state sector and -10% for the firms that became private; moreover, for the privatised firms in the apparel industry, even though the average of the absolute adjustment is negative, the average of the relative adjustment is positive. To sum up, the rough statistics presented in Table C10, do not support the hypothesis of state firms being more inclined to hoard labor.

Finally, Table C11 gives an account of the inflow and outflow pattern of the firms in the sample. It presents the number of firms that entered the sample each year and how many years they remained in the sample. Out of the 13,284 that were in the sample in the first year, 8,298 (i.e. about 62%) survived until the last year of the sample. 1995 and 1997 appear to be the years with the largest inflow of new entrants, while 2000 and 2001 represent the years associated with very small number of new entrants. It is important to notice that 15,041 firms (i.e. almos 37% of the total number of firms) appear in less than 4 years in the sample so they are excluded from the estimation of the adjustment costs, as in the regressions I use data on 4 consecutive years. The large exit rate is also important in the sense that it is likely to cause bias, since firms that expect to exit the market appear to no longer behave as profit maximizers; for example, a firm that exits in two years, may already have liquidity problems in the current period and thus be forced to sell its output below the market price, or it may already fire a large number of workers, regardless of the adjustment costs incurred. While for those firms that are in the sample from the early years one can check whether they exit or not and control for this aspect, for the firms that appear later in the sample, the exit represents a more serious problem, since the last year of observation is 2001 and one cannot check their exit

The broad image presented in the descriptive statistics is that of a dynamic restructuring, with similar patterns across the 9 manufacturing industries. Large decreases in the labor force of the larger, mainly state owned firms, is counterbalanced by the growth of the small private businesses. Firms also appear to be consistent over time with respect to the direction of their adjustments, given the small proportion of consecutive adjustments that have opposite signs.

17

### **CHAPTER 2 – THEORETICAL MODEL AND EMPIRICAL STRATEGY**

#### The Model

The theoretical model used to investigate the costs generated by adjustments in the labour force is based on the assumption that in each period j the firm chooses the adjustment in its labour force such that this choice maximises the future stream of profits.

$$\max_{\Delta L_{t+j}} E_t \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \beta^j \left\{ F(A_{t+j}L_{t+j}) - w_{t+j}L_{t+j} - G(\Delta L_{t+j}, L_{t+j-1}) \right\}$$
  
s.t.

 $L_{t+j} = \Delta L_{t+j} + L_{t+j-1}$ 

 $\beta$  represents the discount factor; F is the production function, which in this model is assumed to depend only on the productivity shock and on the number of employees; w is the average wage and G is the adjustment cost function, which depends on the existing number of employees (L<sub>t+j-1</sub>) and on the size of the adjustment of the labor force ( $\Delta L_{t+j}$ ). The specification of this function allows estimating different costs in the case of upward and downward adjustments. Thus D<sup>+</sup> is a dummy that takes value 1 if  $\Delta L$  is positive and 0 otherwise and D<sup>-</sup> is a dummy that takes value 1 if  $\Delta L$  is negative and 0 otherwise. In each case, the adjustment cost function comprises fixed, linear and convex elements.

$$G(\Delta L_{t+j}, L_{t+j-1}) = D^{+} \left[ a_{0}^{+} + a_{1}^{+} L_{t+j-1} + b^{+} \Delta L_{t+j} + \frac{c^{+}}{2} \left( \frac{\Delta L_{t+j}}{L_{t+j-1}} \right)^{2} L_{t+j-1} \right] + D^{-} \left[ a_{0}^{-} + a_{1}^{-} L_{t+j-1} - b^{-} \Delta L_{t+j} + \frac{c^{-}}{2} \left( \frac{\Delta L_{t+j}}{L_{t+j-1}} \right)^{2} L_{t+j-1} \right]$$

The choice variable is the adjustment in the number of employees -  $\Delta L_{t+j}$  and implicitly the new number of employees  $L_{t+j}$ .

The Lagrangean of the problem can be written in the following way:

$$L = \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \beta^{j} \left\{ F(A_{t+j}L_{t+j}) - w_{t+j}L_{t+j} - G(\Delta L_{t+j}, L_{t+j-1}) + q_{t+j} \left( \Delta L_{t+j} + L_{t+j-1} - L_{t+j} \right) \right\}$$

The first order conditions with respect to  $\Delta L_{t+j}$  in the two cases (expansion and contraction) – equations (1) and (1') below – imply that the only relevant variable that determines the size of the adjustment is q – i.e. the shadow value of employment.

$$\frac{\Delta L_{t+j}}{L_{t+j-1}} = \frac{1}{c^+} \left( q_{t+j} - b^+ \right)$$
 (1) for expansion

 $\frac{\Delta L_{t+j}}{L_{t+j-1}} = \frac{1}{c^{-}} (q_{t+j} + b^{-})$  (1') for contraction

The first order condition with respect to  $L_{t+j}$  – equation (2) – can be rewritten to obtain a relevant expression for  $q_t$  – equation (3).

$$F'(A_{t+j}, L_{t+j}) - w_{t+j} - q_{t+j} + \beta \left[ -a_1 + c \left( \frac{\Delta L_{t+j+1}}{L_{t+j}} \right) \cdot \frac{\Delta L_{t+j+1}}{L_{t+j}} - \frac{c}{2} \cdot \left( \frac{\Delta L_{t+j+1}}{L_{t+j}} \right)^2 + q_{t+j+1} \right] = 0$$
(2)  
$$q_t = E_t \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \beta^j \left[ F'(A_{t+j}, L_{t+j}) - w_{t+j} - \beta \cdot G_L(L_{t+j}, \Delta L_{t+j+1}) \right]$$
(3)

Equation (3) is useful in that is shows that  $q_t$  represents the present value of the marginal product of labour, net of adjustment costs, minus the flow of wage costs associated with the marginal worker. Assuming a Cobb Douglas production function, the marginal productivity of labour can be written as the ratio of sales or operating income to employment – both the numerator and the denominator being observed.

The condition to hire more workers is that their shadow value is larger than the positive adjustment costs, and the condition to lay off workers is that their shadow value is less than the cost of dismissing them. These conditions are reflected in equations (4) and (4'). Combining these equations with the FOCs (1) and (1'), one obtains threshold values of the

shadow value of employment beyond which upward or downward adjustments are worth – equations (5) and (5').

$$q_{t}^{+} \cdot \Delta L_{t} - a_{0}^{+} - a_{1}^{+}L_{t-1} - b^{+}\Delta L_{t} - \frac{c^{+}}{2} \left(\frac{\Delta L_{t}}{L_{t-1}}\right)^{2} L_{t-1} \ge 0 \quad (4)$$
$$q_{t}^{-} \cdot \Delta L_{t} - a_{0}^{-} - a_{1}^{-}L_{t-1} + b^{-}\Delta L_{t} - \frac{c^{-}}{2} \left(\frac{\Delta L_{t}}{L_{t-1}}\right)^{2} L_{t-1} \le 0 \quad (4^{*})$$

$$q_{t}^{+} \ge \sqrt{2c^{+} \cdot \left(\frac{a_{0}^{+}}{L_{t-1}} + a_{1}^{+}\right)} + b^{+}$$
 (5)

$$q_{t}^{-} \leq \sqrt{2c^{-} \cdot \left(\frac{a_{0}^{-}}{L_{t-1}} + a_{1}^{-}\right)} - b^{-}$$
 (5')

#### Empirical strategy

The aim of this paper is to pin down the estimates of the parameters of the cost adjustment function:  $a_0^-$ ,  $a_1^-$ ,  $b^-$ ,  $c^-$ ,  $a_0^+$ ,  $a_1^+$ ,  $b^+$  and  $c^+$ . In order to achieve this, first I estimate an order probit regression for the probabilities of downward adjustment, non-adjustment and upward adjustment; then, using these estimated probabilities and the estimated value of the shadow value employment, I run two auxiliary regressions to obtain estimates of  $c^-a_0^-$ ,  $c^-a_1^-$ ,  $b^-$  and  $c^+a_0^+$ ,  $c^+a_1^+$ ,  $b^+$ .

Last but not least, I estimate the FOCs using the Heckit method to correct the sample selection. This correction is needed since negative or positive adjustments are observed only for those firms for which the benefits of adjustments are greater than the costs, thus  $\frac{\Delta L_t}{L_{t-1}}$  is observed only for a subset of the population. These two last regressions that estimate the FOCs allow retrieving estimates of b<sup>-</sup>/c<sup>-</sup> and -b<sup>+</sup>/c<sup>+</sup>, which actually represent the intercepts,

according to equations (1) and (1'). Knowing these ratios and the estimated b<sup>-</sup> and b<sup>+</sup> from the two auxiliary regressions, by bootstrapping one can obtain estimates of c<sup>-</sup> and c<sup>+</sup>. Further on, retrieving from the auxiliary regressions the means and standard deviations of c<sup>-</sup>a<sub>0</sub><sup>-</sup>, c<sup>-</sup>a<sub>1</sub><sup>-</sup>,  $c^+a_0^+$ ,  $c^+a_1^+$  on one hand, and having the means and standard deviations of c<sup>-</sup> and c<sup>+</sup> on the other hand, one can use bootstrapping again to obtain estimates of  $a_0^-$ ,  $a_1^-$  and  $a_0^+$ ,  $a_1^+$ , pinning thus down estimates for all the parameters of the adjustment cost function.

As equation (3) shows, the shadow value of employment is determined by the expected marginal productivity and expected future wages. In this paper I assume that firms have perfect foresight and use the actual future values of these variables as the expected values. Pfann and Palm (1992), also substitute the realised values of period t+1 for the unobserved expectations of one-period-ahead employment, but they also add a vector of forecast errors of mean zero.

Considering a Cobb Douglas production function, the marginal productivity of employment can be written as the ratio of operating income over the number of employees. I use the operating income instead of the total sales of the firm, because it reflects better the income obtained from productive activities, as opposed to selling assets for example. Thus, in equation (6), the array of regressors includes logarithm of future wages for the next two periods, the logarithm of future operating income to current employment, the logarithm of the operating income over two periods to future employment, and controls such as year dummies and size class dummies.

$$q_{it} = \gamma_1 \cdot \ln(\operatorname{average\_wages}_{i,t+1}) + \gamma_1 \cdot \ln\left(\frac{\operatorname{sales}_{i,t+1}}{\operatorname{employees}_{i,t}}\right) + \gamma_3 \cdot \ln(\operatorname{average\_wages}_{i,t+2}) + \gamma_4 \cdot \ln\left(\frac{\operatorname{sales}_{i,t+2}}{\operatorname{emplyees}_{i,t+1}} + \operatorname{Year\_dummies} + Size\_class\_dummies + \varepsilon_{it}\right)$$
(6)

Equation (6) is thus the empirical equivalent of equation (3) in a horizon of two years; the expected future wages are considered to be equal with the realised future wages and the expected marginal productivity of labor is considered to equal the ratio between future sales and the current employment; moreover, equation (6) contains time dummies and size class dummies as controls. Since the shadow value of employment cannot be observed and measured, equation (6) cannot be estimated as such.

Instead, equations (5) and (5') show that for each firm there are two threshold values of  $q_t$  that determine the type of adjustment that is made: downward, no adjustment or upward adjustment. Therefore I estimate an ordered probit model in order to determine the probabilities of  $q_{it}$  being below the first threshold (i.e. the probability of contraction) -  $P_c$ , the probability of  $q_{it}$  being between the two thresholds (no adjustment) –  $P_0$  and, the probability of  $q_{it}$  being larger than the second threshold (expansion) -  $P_e$ . It is necessary to assume that  $\varepsilon_i$  is normally distributed with a 0 mean.

$$P_{ci} = \Pr(\gamma_{1}'Z_{i} + \varepsilon_{i} < \sqrt{2c^{-} \cdot \left(\frac{a_{0}}{L_{i,t-1}} + a_{1}^{-}\right)} - b^{-}) = 1 - \Phi\left(\gamma_{1}'Z_{i} + b^{-} - \sqrt{2c^{-} \cdot \left(\frac{a_{0}}{L_{i,t-1}} + a_{1}^{-}\right)}\right)$$
(7)

$$P_{0i} = \Pr(\sqrt{2c^{-} \cdot \left(\frac{a_{0}^{-}}{L_{t-1}} + a_{1}^{-}\right) - b^{-}} < \gamma_{1}^{'}Z_{i} + \varepsilon_{i}} < \sqrt{2c^{+} \cdot \left(\frac{a_{0}^{+}}{L_{t-1}} + a_{1}^{+}\right) + b^{+}}) = \\ = \Phi\left(\gamma_{1}^{'}Z_{i} + b^{-} - \sqrt{2c^{-} \cdot \left(\frac{a_{0}^{-}}{L_{i,t-1}} + a_{1}^{-}\right)}\right) - \Phi\left(\gamma_{1}^{'}Z_{i} - b^{+} - \sqrt{2c^{+} \cdot \left(\frac{a_{0}^{+}}{L_{i,t-1}} + a_{1}^{+}\right)}\right) \\ P_{ei} = \Pr(\gamma_{1}^{'}Z_{i} + \varepsilon_{i} > \sqrt{2c^{+} \cdot \left(\frac{a_{0}^{+}}{L_{t-1}} + a_{1}^{+}\right)} + b^{+}) = \Phi\left(\gamma_{1}^{'}Z_{i} - b^{+} - \sqrt{2c^{+} \cdot \left(\frac{a_{0}^{+}}{L_{i,t-1}} + a_{1}^{+}\right)}\right) \right)$$
(8)

Apart from the variables that determine  $q_{it}$  in equations (6) – which in equations (7), (8) and (9) are denoted by  $Z_i$  – in the ordered probit model the lagged number of employees appears as an independent variable. This is important because the lagged employment represents the exclusion restriction that allows estimating the FOCs with sample correction for those firms that do not adjust. Equations (7), (8) and (9) show that the lagged employment is relevant for the probability of the firm making one type of adjustment or another, while equations (1) and (1') show that this variable is not relevant in determining the size of the adjustment. Intuitively is not obvious why the lagged number of employees is relevant for the direction of the adjustment, but not for its size; one explanation is that the size of adjustment is measured relative to the lagged number of employees.

The coefficients from the ordered probit regressions allow constructing proxies for the shadow value of employment of each firm in the sample:  $\hat{q}_{it} = \hat{\gamma}_1 Z_{it}$ 

Thus, from (7):

$$b^{-} - \sqrt{2c^{-} \cdot \left(\frac{a_{0}^{-}}{L_{i,t-1}} + a_{1}^{-}\right)} = \Phi^{-1}(1 - P_{ci}) - q_{it}^{\wedge}$$
(10)

And from (9)

$$-b^{+} - \sqrt{2c^{+} \cdot \left(\frac{a_{0}^{+}}{L_{i,t-1}} + a_{1}^{+}\right)} = \Phi^{-1}(P_{ei}) - q_{it}^{\wedge}$$
(10')

Using the notations  $t_{1,i} = \Phi^{-1} (1 - P_{ci}) - \dot{q}_{it}$ , and  $t_{2,i} = \Phi^{-1} (P_{ei}) - \dot{q}_{it}$ , equations (10) and

(10') can be rewritten as following:

$$\frac{2c^{-}a_{0}^{-}}{L_{i,t-1}} + 2c^{-}a_{1}^{-} + 2b^{-}t_{1,i} - (b^{-})^{2} = t_{1,i}^{2}$$
(11)

$$\frac{2c^{+}a_{0}^{+}}{L_{i,t-1}} + 2c^{+}a_{1}^{+} - 2b^{+}t_{2,i} - (b^{+})^{2} = t_{2,i}^{2}$$
(11')

Running a simple OLS of  $t^2$  on the inverse of the number of employees in the previous period and on t, one obtains estimates of  $c^-a_0^-$ ,  $b^-$ ,  $2c^-a_1^--(b^-)^2$  and  $c^+a_0^+$ ,  $b^+$ ,  $2c^+a_1^+-(b^+)^2$ .

The last step is to estimate the FOCs with the sample correction; equation (12) is the first order condition for the firm-year observations that have negative adjustments and (12') is the condition for those observations with positive adjustments. The inverse Mill's ratio is a non linear function of both  $Z_{it}$  and  $L_{i,t-1}$ , but it can still be approximated by a linear function of these variables. Therefore, if  $L_{i,t-1}$  appeared as a regressor in equations (12) and (12'), the

explanatory variables would have been highly correlated leading to multicollinearity and consequently high estimated standard errors. But the fact that the lagged employment affects selection into the group of firms that make either a positive or a negative adjustment, but not the size of this adjustment, provides the exclusion restriction that is necessary to estimate the first order conditions with sample selection.

$$\frac{\Delta L_{it}}{L_{i,t-1}} = \frac{1}{c^{-}} \cdot \left(b^{-} + \gamma_{1}^{'} Z_{it}\right) + \lambda^{-} \frac{\phi \left(\gamma_{1}^{'} Z_{it} + \gamma_{0} + b^{-} - \sqrt{2c^{-} \cdot \left(\frac{a_{0}^{-}}{L_{i,t-1}} + a_{1}^{-}\right)}\right)}{1 - \Phi \left(\gamma_{1}^{'} Z_{it} + \gamma_{0} + b^{-} - \sqrt{2c^{-} \cdot \left(\frac{a_{0}^{-}}{L_{i,t-1}} + a_{1}^{-}\right)}\right)} + v_{it}$$
(12)

$$\frac{\Delta L_{it}}{L_{i,t-1}} = \frac{1}{c^{+}} \cdot \left(-b^{+} + \gamma_{1}^{'} Z_{it}\right) + \lambda^{+} \frac{\phi\left(\gamma_{1}^{'} Z_{it} + \gamma_{0} - b^{+} - \sqrt{2c^{+} \cdot \left(\frac{a_{0}^{+}}{L_{i,t-1}} + a_{1}^{+}\right)}\right)}{\Phi\left(\gamma_{1}^{'} Z_{it} + \gamma_{0} - b^{+} - \sqrt{2c^{+} \cdot \left(\frac{a_{0}^{+}}{L_{i,t-1}} + a_{1}^{+}\right)}\right)} + v_{it}$$
(12')

The constant term in equation (12) represents the ratio of b<sup>-</sup> and c<sup>-</sup> and the constant in equation (12') represents the ratio of  $-b^+$  and c<sup>+</sup>. In order to determine the mean and variance of each parameter of the adjustment cost function, I use bootstrapping. For example, to obtain an estimate of c<sup>+</sup> I generate 1000 random variables according to the distribution of b<sup>+</sup> (retrieved from equation 11') and 1000 random variables according to the distribution of  $\frac{b^+}{c^+}$  (from equation 12'); the distribution of c<sup>+</sup> is obtained by dividing the numbers in the first distribution to the numbers of the second distribution.

The main advantage of this model is that it allows retrieving the estimates of the adjustment cost function using relatively few variables that are easily available, without imposing symmetry for the upward and downward adjustments. It also exploits cleverly the existence of the two thresholds in the unobservable shadow value of employment which determine the 3 types of action that are observable: downward adjustment, non-adjustment or

upward adjustment, solving thus the problem of dealing with the unobservable variables. However, the main disadvantage is given by the rigidity of the adjustment cost function, which cannon be altered or specified differently because this would result in more complicated forms of equations (10) and (10') which would not allow retrieving the parameters of interest any longer. For example, dropping the fixed component out of the adjustment cost function would result in losing the lagged number of employees form equations (10) and (10') and thus losing the exclusion restriction that allows estimating the first order conditions with the necessary Heckman correction.

### **CHAPTER 3 – THE RESULTS**

This section presents the results of the main regressions of the model, namely the ordered probit equation and the two first order conditions for the downward and upward adjustments. It also presents the bootstraping estimates of the adjustment cost function and discusses the economic impact of the estimated costs. Last but not least, it relates the estimated upward costs with the unemployment rate and the estimated downward costs with the employment protection legislation, as a robustness check.

#### The estimated equations

#### **The Probit Model**

The results of the ordered probit model are shown in Table D1. The dependent variable has three values associated with the 3 possible actions that firms can take: 1 - decrease their labor force; 2 - keep it constant; or 3 - hire more employees. As mentioned earlier, I consider a non-adjustment in the labor force those adjustments that altered the number of employees with less than  $\pm 1\%$ , since very small changes in the labor input of large firms can be attributed to random factors or data errors.

Similarly to the probit models, the estimated results of the ordered probit model do not have a quantitative interpretation, but only their sign and statistical significance are relevant; therefore I will confine my comments to these two aspects. The expected average wage in the next period is statistically insignificant in most of the industries, with the exception of textiles, where it has the expected negative sign and is significant at 5% confidence level in the specification without controls for the ownership form, and rubber and plastic industry — where it is negative and statistically significant at 5% in the specifications without controls and at 10% in the specification with controls. In the metal and apparel industries, in the second specification the coefficient on the next period's average wage is

statistically significant but it has a positive sign. The expected wage over two periods is negative and statistically significant only in the food and drinks industry, while in the apparel and rubber and plastic industries it is positive, and in all the other industries it is statistically insignificant.

These poor results could reflect the use of the actual average wages in each firm in the next periods as expected wages; it may well be the case that management's expectations, upon which they act in the current period, differ from the realised values. In this case there is a measurement error in these two explanatory variables. It is known that in an OLS regression, such errors, if uncorrelated with the true, unobserved expectations on wages would bias the estimates towards 0; even though I could not find any theoretical discussion of the implication of classical error in variables (CEV) on the results of an ordered probit regression, it is reasonable to assume that such errors cause bias in an ordered probit model as well.

The other explanation of the poor results of the estimated coefficients on future wages comes from the simultaneity problem. Establishing a causality relationship between wages and employment is always a difficult task in lack of adequate instrumental variables. In the context of this paper, the unexpected positive correlation between future wages and employment can be accounted by the fact expanding firms could have increased both their level of employment and their wages, while firms in a trough could have decreased both the number of employees and the wages; in the absence of a competitive labor market, as seems to be the case with Romania in the 1990s, this hypothesis cannot be easily refuted.

With the exception of leather and the wood industry in the second specification, in all the other 6 industries, the expected future sales to the current number of employees are highly statistically significant and have the expected positive sign. The expected sales over two periods to the future number of employees is statistically significant in 6 out of the 9 industries, namely food and drinks, leather, wood, typography metal and furniture. Again the error in measuring expectations may play some role in rendering insignificant estimates. Moreover, I assumed that the input of an employee that is hired in the current period is translated into sales one period later (this is why I consider the future marginal productivity as the ratio of future sales to current employees) but this assumption depends crucially on the inventory turnover which is different among industries, so here is another possible source of error.

It seems thus that the variables used as proxy for the shadow value of employment are not always statistically significant and sometimes have the wrong sign. On the other hand, the lagged number of employees is always negative and statistically significant, implying that in all the analysed industries firms with larger inherited number of employees are more likely to adjust downwards, which is consistent with the observations in the descriptive statistics.

For most of the industries the class size dummies are statistically significant; the firms with an average number of employees between 10 and 50 throughout the period are more likely to make an upward adjustment than the micro-firms in each industry with the exception of metal industry; also the coefficient on the *medium* dummy is positive and statistically significant, with some exceptions: in the rubber and plastic industry, the textiles and the furniture industries (the specifications without controls), it is insignificant, while in the metal industry it is negative, and in the food and drinks industry it changes signs between the specification without controls for the ownership form and the specification with controls. If smaller firms in different industries seem to behave similarly, there is more heterogeneity among large firms at industry level: in apparel, leather and typography the coefficient on the *large* dummy is positive and statistically significant; in the rubber and plastic and metal industries it is negative and statistically significant, while in the other industries it changes the sign and/or the significance level between the specification with controls for the

ownership form and the specification without such controls. Also, most of the year dummies are statistically significant, and all of them are positive, suggesting that the basis year (1999) was mostly associated with downward adjustments.

In the second specification I control for the ownership form using three dummies: as mentioned in the previous chapter, private is 1 if the company was private and remained so throughout the period, and 0 otherwise; *privatised* is 1 if the firm was state-owned and at some point within the analyzed period it became private; and the basis category is *state* which is 1 for all those firms that remained in state's ownership. As mentioned, I introduced dummies for the ownership form of the company in the idea that state-owned companies could be more reluctant to shed the labor force, so I expected negative signs on the *private* dummy. The results show that *private* is not negative and statistically significant in any of the industries; on the contrary, with the exception of apparel and leather, in all the other industries it is positive and statistically significant. These findings reflect the steady expansion of the private sector in the 1990s. But the coefficient on *privatised* is insignificant in most of the industries (with the exception of food and drinks and wood, where it is positive and significant only at 10% level), suggesting that the firms that became private in this period are not statistically different form the firms that remained in state's ownership, with regard to their propensity to make positive or negative adjustments in the labor force. The privatised dummy that I use is not specific enough to capture the different behaviours before and after the privatisation, i.e. to show whether throughout the period the privatised firms do not differ at all from the state ones, or if there are significant adjustments of opposite sign before and after the privatisation.

Based on this regression, I calculated for each firm-year observation the probabilities of downward adjustment, non-adjustment and upward adjustment, which served for estimating equations (11) and (11') and obtaining estimates of  $c^+a_0^+$ ,  $b^+$ ,  $2c^+a_1^+-(b^+)^2$  and  $c^-a_0^-$ ,

29

b<sup>-</sup>,  $2c^{-}a_{1}^{-}(b^{-})^{2}$ . Since these estimates are not relevant in themselves, I do not present the results here. Instead I focus on the results of equations (12) and (12'). These are the first order conditions for the firms that adjust negatively and positively, with the sample correction to account for those firms which do not adjust.

#### Downward adjustment equation

The results of the first order condition for the firm-year observations with downward adjustments and correction for the sample selection are presented in Table D2. The dependent variable in the regression is the relative adjustment in the labor force. In most of the industries the expected wage in the next year is statistically significant and positive, the only exceptions being the textiles, the rubber and plastic and the furniture industries where it is insignificant. These results imply that higher expected wages are associated with smaller decreases in the labor force – a finding that is difficult to explain in a market economy. As stated earlier, it may be the case that expectations are not adequately measured by the realized average wages or that firms with dim perspectives simultaneously decreased their labor force and the wages paid to the remaining employees – a situation which can only occur in a noncompetitive labor market. The expected wage over two periods is again positive and significant for the foods and drinks, apparel, wood, typography, rubber and plastic and metal industries; for the textiles, leather and furniture industries it is insignificant. The fact that the expected average wage over two periods has again the unexpected positive sign seems to give some support to the hypothesis that the frictions that allowed firms to pay uncompetitive wages in the shorter run, persist over two years as well.

Looking at the coefficients on the expected marginal productivity, measured as future sales to the current employment, these are positive and statistically significant at 10% level in the specification with less controls and at 5% level in the specification with controls for

ownership, only in the rubber and plastic industry; otherwise the coefficients are statistically insignificant in textiles, metal and furniture, and negative in the other industries, implying that expected higher marginal productivities are associated with larger downward adjustments. This puzzling result can be accounted by the problematic way of measuring the marginal productivity: again the expectations of the management may be different from the realised sales or simply, if the production function is not Cobb Douglas – as I have assumed, the marginal productivity cannot be computed as the ratio of sales to employment. The marginal productivity over two periods is positive and statistically significant, save typography and the rubber and plastic industry, where it is insignificant.

The inverse Mill's ratios are not statistically significant in all the industries; namely they are insignificant in apparel, leather, typography and furniture, suggesting that in these industries there is no sample selection problem.

The coefficients on the *private* and *privatised* dummies are either positive – suggesting that the private and privatised firms make smaller negative adjustments than the state firms, either statistically insignificant – suggesting that the private and privatised firms are not statistically different from the state firms with respect to the size of their average negative adjustment. In leather and typography industries, the ownership dummies do not capture any difference between the behaviour of the firms in each of the three categories; and in the metal industry only the *privatised* dummy is statistically 0. These results contradict again the initial assumption that the state firms are more reluctant to make large negative adjustments than the private firms, but it can be explained by the fact that the private sector was growing rapidly in the analyzed period.

#### Upward adjustment equation

The estimated coefficients of the first order condition for the upward adjustments are presented in Table D3. The future average wages have the expected negative sign and are

31

significant at 1% level only in the metal industry and at 10% level in the typography industry. Otherwise the coefficients on this variable are statistically insignificant, or even positive for textiles, in the more parsimonious specification. The wages over two periods have the expected negative sign and are statistically significant in the typography, textiles and apparel industries; in the leather industry, and in the food and drinks industry (the specification with less controls) the coefficients on the wage over two periods are positive, while in the rest of the industries these are statistically insignificant.

The expected future marginal productivity, measured as before, is positive and highly significant in the food and drinks sector and marginally significant in the typography sector; in the other industries it is non-significant. The expected marginal productivity over two periods is positive and marginally significant only in the rubber and plastic industry; in food and drinks, textiles and furniture industries it is negative, while in the other industries it is not significant. The negative signs of the coefficients on  $ln(sales_{i,t+2}/employees_{i,t+1})$  are most probably related to the difference between the real expectations of management and the realised value of sales to employment.

For the dummies controlling for size class differences or different years, there is no clear pattern regarding the sign or the statistical significance. But both dummies accounting for different ownership forms are statistically insignificant in all the industries, suggesting that there are no differences among firms in different ownership forms with respect to the size of their relative positive adjustment.

The inverses Mill's ratios are negative and statistically significant in all industries and specifications, save for the rubber and plastic and metal industries, where there seems to be no selection bias.

#### Model discussion

In all the three regressions discussed above, many of the coefficients are either statistically insignificant, or have the wrong sign. Also, the R squared of the two OLS regressions are low, especially for the upward adjustment equation, where in the best case the chosen variables explain only 9.4% of the variation of the upward movements in the labor force.

Moreover, in the first order condition estimated for the firm-year observations with downward adjustments, the variables that should have been a proxy for the shadow value of employment have the wrong sign in most of the industries. The bad performance of the model in this particular equation can be linked to the fact that I do not control for exit. Those firms that exit the market will behave differently even before doing so; thus, for a firm that is forced to exit, higher future sales to the current number of employees may actually represent stock liquidations; this possibility would explain the negative coefficient on ln(sales<sub>i,t+1</sub>/employees<sub>i,t</sub>) in foods and drinks, apparel, leather, wood and typography industries. As showed in the descriptive statistics and as noticed by Eric Bartelsman et al. (2004, p.26) high exit rates represent indeed a specific feature of the Romanian firms:

Romania is obviously an outlier amongst transition economies: not only are failure rates higher than in the other countries, but even successful entrants have more limited opportunities of expanding.

As stated before, these unconvincing results could be the consequence of the inadequate measurement of the explanatory variables that include expectations. But it may also be the case that this model is not well suited for the economic context in which it was applied. One of the reasons is that between 1994 and 2002 in Romania the inflation rate had unusually high levels (Table A2 shows the consumer price indices as reported by the National Institute of Statistics). It is known that such high levels of inflation induce uncertainty in the business sector and thus for the management of each company it becomes more difficult to elaborate accurate and reliable forecasts. So, apart from the difficulty that arises in measuring

expectations adequately, there is the additional problem of the model assuming that the management uses such expectations in taking decisions; given the unreliability of expectations about monetary wages and sales in such an inflationary environment, it is likely that the decisions regarding adjustments in the labor force are taken on other grounds, like perspectives of privatisation if the firm is state-owned, specific long-term contracts (or the absence of such contracts) that guarantee a certain steady demand, or local conditions in the labor market – more specifically, for example, the disadvantaged region status granted to several regions which offer better opportunities for developing businesses.

#### Adjustment function parameters

#### Statistical significance

From the estimated parameters of the two first order condition regressions and of the other two auxiliary regressions, I estimate the parameters of the labor adjustment cost function by bootstrapping. But given the relative poor performance of the model in capturing the dynamics of the adjustment, these estimated parameters should be regarded cautiously, especially in the case of downward adjustments.

The results are presented in Table D4. The most striking fact is that the results are qualitatively the same across all industries – i.e. in each industry and specification, the different components of the adjustment costs have the same sign and statistical significance. The other unexpected fact is that the estimated linear component of the downward adjustment cost is negative and statistically significant at 1% level, implying that on average, firms have a linear benefit in decreasing their employment; this benefit appears to be greater in the specification with more controls – i.e. b<sup>-</sup> is more negative in the second specification – in all industries, save for leather. But c<sup>-</sup> (the convex component) is always higher than b<sup>-</sup> and always statistically significant, so when plotting the cost of adjustment as a function of the absolute size of the adjustment, most of the firms appear to have costs of downward

adjustment near 0; c<sup>-</sup> is smaller in the second specification in apparel, rubber and plastic, metal and furniture, and larger in the other industries.

While  $a_0^-$  and  $a_1^-$  are positive and statistically significant but low in absolute value,  $a_0^+$ and  $a_1^+$  are not significant. Moreover,  $c^+$  is also not significant in any of the industries. Thus, for the upward adjustment, the only statistically significant component is the linear one,  $b^+$ being always positive and highly statistically significant.

Comparing industries among each other, the typography seems to incur the largest adjustment costs, as the estimated  $a_0^-$ ,  $a_1^-$ ,  $c^-$  and  $b^+$  are the largest in this industry; but also the estimated  $b^-$  is among the lowest in typography. On the other hand, in the food and drinks, textiles and rubber and plastic, all the elements of the adjustment costs are among the lowest.

The structure of the adjustment costs is important in determining the path of adjustment of the labor force. As discussed by Hammermesh (1996, p. 1268-1275), in the presence of significant fixed costs, the adjustment proceeds in jumps (i.e. there are large and infrequent modifications of the number of employees); in the case of linear costs, the marginal cost of adjustment is constant and so the larger the linear costs, the longer the periods of inaction in response to shocks; quadratic costs imply that the marginal cost increases with the size of the adjustment, so in the presence of such costs, the optimal strategy for the firm is to adjust continually and in small quantities.

The fact that only the linear component of the cost function is significant for the upward adjustment implies that the marginal cost of adjustment is equal with  $b^+$  at all the levels of adjustment, which suggests that firms have some flexibility in making their adjustments as each upward adjustment is made as long as its benefit offsets  $b^+$ . In the case of downward adjustment, even though the fixed component is statistically significant, it has such low estimated values that it can be considered insignificant from the economic perspective; a larger fixed cost would have deterred firms to make any adjustment, unless the

35

benefits of this adjustment were large enough to offset the fixed cost. The fact that both b<sup>-</sup> and c<sup>-</sup> are significant, but have different signs literally implies that there are linear *benefits* and simultaneous quadratic *costs* of downward adjustment; moreover, as these estimated components are of comparable size, it is hard to predict the path of adjustment in the case of downward adjustments.

#### **Economic impact**

Figure E1 plots the estimated adjustment costs obtained in the specification with more controls for the firms in the sample in all the 4 size classes as a function of the absolute adjustment, separately for each industry. Since the only parameter that is statistically significant for the upward adjustment is  $b^+$  – the linear component – all the estimated upward costs are lined up. The steepest slope is in typography (6.29), while the flattest slope is in textiles (3.189); as all the prices are in thousands of 1997 Romanian Lei, and the average exchange rate in 1997 was 7,167.94 ROL for an USD this implies that even in the industry with the highest upward adjustment cost, this cost is less than \$1 for each additional worker that is hired.

As for the downward adjustment, the plots reflect the more inconclusive shapes of the cost function, with most of the observations bulking around 0, especially for smaller adjustments. Even though it is highly statistically significant, the fixed component has very small values, ranging from 0.0035 in the rubber and plastic industry to 0.0859 in typography, and is thus economically insignificant;  $a_1$  has also small values from 0.0324 in the rubber and plastic industry to 0.1855 in the leather industry, but since this term is multiplied with the existing number of employees, it can have some impact on the cost of adjustment in the large firms. The estimated b<sup>-</sup> ranges from -3.92 in typography to -2.49 in the rubber and plastic industry; interestingly, the industry with the most negative b<sup>-</sup>, has the largest estimate of the

quadratic cost (9.397) and the industry with the estimated  $b^{-}$  closest to 0, has the lowest estimate of the quadratic cost (2.844).

The distribution of firms according to the share of their adjustment costs in the yearly wage bill is shown in Figure E2, separately for downward (left column) and upward (right column) adjustments for each industry. The figure shows that all the firms in the apparel, rubber and plastic and metal industries have only benefits from downward adjustment (i.e. the downward adjustment costs are negative), but these benefits, are extremely small – less than 0.05% of the yearly wage bill for most of the firms. In the other industries, most of the firms have negative costs for decreasing their labor force (i.e. benefits), but there are also firms with positive costs. Again, most of these costs and benefits are very close to 0 when compared to the firms' wage bill. The figure also shows that the upward costs are very small in each industry, most of the firms incurring upward adjustment costs that are less than 0.1% of the yearly labor expenses.

#### Employment protection legislation and unemployment rate

The results presented above lead to the conclusion that between 1995 and 1999 (the years actually used in estimating the adjustment costs), there are no adjustment costs on the Romanian labor market. But, given the poor performance of the model in capturing the dynamics of the labor adjustment, this conclusion should be regarded cautiously. In order to shed more light on these results, I consider the strictness of the employment protection legislation as an indicator of the size of the downward adjustment costs and the unemployment rates as an indicator of the upward adjustment costs.

In the World Bank's 2005 report entitled "Enhancing Job Opportunities – Eastern Europe and Former Soviet Union", Romania is ranked the first in the top of countries with the strongest employment legislation in the region, having the strongest regulations for temporary employment and the second strongest regulations (after Ukraine) for the regular employment (Figure 6.6B, p. 214). The same report labels Romania as a country with very rigid EPL and intermediate enforcement (Table 6.1, p. 215). This evidence seems to support the idea that the chosen model was inadequate and the conclusions derived from it are not trustworthy. But, the same report points out to the "the differences between the legislative difficulty of hiring and firing and the ease of both reported by employers" (2005, p.212) that are specific to the Romanian labor market. Moreover, these conclusions are based on the labor code adopted in 2003. The law that was valid in the period of my analysis is the labor code dating from 1972, with some amendments, that did not insure such a high level of protection for employees. Accoring to Vasile Ciucã and Luise Malden, in the 2003 code the "employees" information and consultation rights have been greatly improved" (2009, p. 2); the same authors mention that this code proved to be particularly rigid and therefore was modified in 2005 and 2006 in order to insure a greater flexibility of the labor market.

Another argument that supports the hypothesis of a lax EPL that induces low costs of labor adjustments can be found in the previous study of Juan Botero et al. (2004), which ranks Romania on the 20<sup>th</sup> place out of 85 countries with respect to the flexibility of their employment laws. Their employment law index measures the protection of labor taking into account 4 aspects: alternative employment contracts, the cost of increasing hours worked, the cost of firing workers and the dismissal procedures. Romania's index of 0.3272, places it in the quarter of the countries with the lowest protection, the 25<sup>th</sup> percentile being 0.3433 and the average 0.488. Unfortunately, the online appendix provided by the authors, that should contain information on the exact source of the data in each country, cannot be accessed, but given the fact that the paper was published in 2004, it is likely that the data for Romania refers to the older labor code, that which was valid during the 90s and which is relevant for

my analysis. This would also explain the discrepancy between the evaluation of the Romanian EPL in this article and the evaluation in the World Bank's report.

As for the extremely low estimates of the upward adjustment cost, one explanation could reside in the large levels of unemployment that were characteristic in Romania for this period. In order to test if the large pool of unemployed people lowered the costs associated with searching new workers, I estimated the costs of upward adjustment separately for each year and each industry. Since only the linear component turned out to be significant, Table D5 presents the unemployment level in each year and the estimated b<sup>+</sup> separately for each year and industry. 1996 – the year with the lowest unemployment rate is also the year with the lowest estimated costs in the in textiles and wood industries and in all the industries the estimated marginal costs of adjustment between 1995 and 1996 are smaller than the estimated costs for the whole period. Moreover, in 1999 (the year with the highest rate of unemployment), in all industries the estimated b<sup>+</sup> is larger than the estimated b<sup>+</sup> for the whole period. Thus, it seems that in the presence of high unemployment rates, the adjustment costs are also higher and consequently the low estimates for the upward costs of adjustment cannot be explained by the high rates of unemployment that were characteristic to Romania in that period.

But there are two problems in using the rate of unemployment at country level in order to explain the size of the estimated upward adjustment costs: the first one is that the unemployment rate is a rough measure that does not provide any clue about the local conditions of each firm, which are more relevant for its search costs. And the second problem comes from two possible simultaneous causality relations: on the one hand more firms making larger upward adjustments results in lower estimated costs of adjustment; and on the other hand more firms making larger upward adjustments results in decreased levels of unemployment. Therefore the causality relation between the unemployment rate and the cost of adjustment is shadowed by the increased upward adjustments determining simultaneously lower levels of unemployment and lower estimated costs of upward adjustment.

### **CONCLUSION AND FURTHER PATHS OF RESEARCH**

The poor performance of the model shades doubt on the estimated parameters of the adjustment cost function. Moreover, the analysis of the unemployment rate and of the EPL does not provide conclusive arguments to sustain these results. And since one cannot test simultaneously the performance of a model and the accuracy of the results it produces for a particular set of data, more research is needed in both directions, i.e. in improving this theoretical model and also in using other models to measure the size and structure of the labor adjustment costs during the Romanian transition. Also, the theoretical framework that I used ignores several important aspects of the labor adjustment that were previously emphasised in the literature.

For example, one possibility that is worth investigating in the future is whether the expected firing costs have any impact on hiring, interplaying thus with the hiring costs to determine the optimal level of upward adjustment. Intuitively, higher separation costs should make the firm more reluctant to hire. On the other hand, as Bentolila and Bertola (1989) point, "the larger the fixed cost of separation, the longer is tenure and the closer to zero is the expected discount factor multiplying this cost" (1990, p 391). In the same paper, by calibrating their model with realistic parameter values, they find that actually firing costs do not have large effects on hiring decisions, nor do high firing costs reduce the average level of employment, and they explain these results by the role of discounting and labor attrition in the firms's dynamic optimization problem. Similarly, Anderson (1993) finds that the theoretical possibility that high firing costs prevent increases in employment is not supported empirically. Based on these results, in my model I did not allow the firing costs to influence the decision regarding hires, but this possibility cannot be totally excluded.

There is empirical evidence that the voluntary turnover rate affects the labor adjustment costs Burgess (1988). Thus, incorporating attrition in the model of labor adjustment would make it more realistic and would allow retrieving better estimates of the adjustment costs. On one hand attrition allows firms to reduce their labor force without incurring the associated costs of downward adjustment – which is beneficial for a firm in a trough, but on the other hand, attrition increases the upward adjustment costs, since the firm has to hire more workers to replace those who quit or retire. More importantly, the quit rate is tightly related to the tightness of the labor market, which in turns affects the adjustment costs. A tight labor market, with high levels of unemployment is likely to lower the upward adjustment costs, and in the same time decrease the quit rate. As I showed, in the analyzed period, in Romania the unemployment rate was high, which implies a low quit rate, and thus not taking into account the quit rate is not likely to have affected much the results.

Another direction in which estimation could be improved is by taking into account the adjustment costs in employment generated by changes in the amount of capital. As Alonso-Borrego (1998) shows, it is plausible that the decisions of investment and labour demand are interrelated, and more specifically, as shown by Cooper and Willis, "the presence of lumpy capital adjustment could induce lumpy labor adjustment even without non-convex costs of adjusting the stock of workers." (2009, p. 645) In this case, the approach that considers the amount of capital as fixed and given (as it is considered in most of the literature) should be replaced with an approach where the adjustment cost function includes an interaction term between labor and capital inputs.

Even the costs associated with changes in different types of labor can be considered separately. It is reasonable to expect hiring costs to be larger the higher the skill of workers, since training costs are expected to be lower for unskilled labor. "Furthermore, since severance pay depends on the worker's earnings, and they depend on his skill, firing costs will increase with worker's skill." (Alonso-Borrego, 1998, p.476) A particular labor input will thus be adjusted more slowly than others if its adjustment costs are larger. Using data for manufacturing in Netherlands between 1971(I) and 1984(IV) and for manufacturing in UK between 1955 and 1986, Pfann and Palm (1992), find that hiring costs exceed firing costs of production workers, whereas firing costs exceed hiring costs of non-production workers.

Moreover, a potentially fruitful approach would be to take into account the influence of the adjustment of one type of labor on the adjustment of the other types. Alonso-Borrego follows this track and, using data on 1080 Spanish manufacturing firms between 1986 and 1991, tries to show the pattern of interactions between adjustments of permanent nonproduction/ permanent production and temporary workforce. The results show that "there is a positive cross-adjustment effect between nonproduction and production labor inputs (...); this implies that, at the margin, the costs of hiring permanent nonproduction employment may be lowered if the firm dismisses permanent production employees at the same time." (1998, p. 492). This result could actually be the expression of the skill biased technological change that occurred during that period. But in order to test this hypothesis, capital should have also been considered as the 4<sup>th</sup> type of input.

Focusing on the adjustment on the number of employees, it is important not to disparage the adjustment in the numbers of hours worked. Empirical studies show that this is a more flexible mechanism of adjustment, and is thus being used intensively by firms. For example Hamermesh's study on monthly plant-level data shows that increases in demand are met by combinations of greater effort and increased hours per worker, and only "with very large changes in product demand, though, firms respond by non-marginal changes in employment" (1989, p. 683). Also, Cooper et al. point to the fact that "at the plant-level, there is about equal adjustment in hours per worker and employees" (2003, p. 2). Labor unions are also known to have a considerable effect on the costs of labor adjustments through their

influence on the rate of dismissal payments and the duration of application terms for dismissals (Pfann and Verspagen, 1989).

Unfortunately, the data set that I use does not contain information on union coverage, neither on the voluntary turnover rate, or on the number of employees with different skills, or on the number of hours worked. Thus, most of the limitations of this study are intrinsically linked to the limitations of the data.

The findings of this paper support the hypothesis of the Romanian transition not being hampered by any type of labor adjustment costs. However it is important to be cautious about this statement and not to disparage the shortcomings of the model through which these estimates were obtained, that were outlined throughout the paper. The absence of adjustment costs should have constituted an effective catalyst for the transition. Therefore, in the light of this paper, the fact that Romania fell behind in its speed of adjustment to the market economy, compared to other countries in the region can only be explained by the existence of larger rigidities in other fields. A multi-disciplinary investigation of the rigidities in these other fields would help building a clear and exhaustive image of the Romanian transition.

# **APPENDIX A – MACROECEONOMIC CONTEXT**

**Table A1 -** Evolution of the total number of employees in all activities, in manufacturing and in the sample

	1994	1995	1996	1997	1998	1999	2000	2001
Total number of employees (thousands)	6,438	6,160	5,939	5,597	5,369	4,761	4,623	4,619
Annual change		-4.32%	-3.59%	-5.76%	-4.07%	-11.32%	-2.90%	-0.09%
Employees in manufacturing industry (thousands)	2,426	2,192	2,148	2,032	1,907	1,660	1,560	1,590
Annual change		-9.65%	-2.01%	-5.40%	-6.15%	-12.95%	-6.02%	1.92%
Employees in the sample								
(thousands)	831	1,087	1,124	1,207	1,109	1,004	955	674
Share of employees in								
manufacturing	37.68%	35.58%	36.17%	36.31%	35.52%	34.87%	33.74%	34.42%
Share of manufacturing								
employees in the sample	34.25%	49.59%	52.33%	59.40%	58.15%	60.48%	61.22%	42.39%

 Table A2 - Consumer price indices

|--|

1994	236.7
1995	132.3
1996	138.8
1997	254.8
1998	159.1
1999	145.8
2000	145.7
2001	134.5
2002	122.5

# **APPENDIX B – DATA CLEANING**

### Figure B1

Percentage change vs. absolute change in employment (left column)

Change in employment as percentage of the current number of employees vs. absolute change (right column)





## **APPENDIX C – DESCRIPTIVE STATISTICS**

Figure C1– The share of micro, small and medium firms



**Table C1** – The mean, median and standard deviation of the number of employees and of the yearly change in the number of employyes by size class

Size	Mean	Median	St. Dev.	Mean	Median	St. Dev.
Class	(AL)	(AL)	(ΔL)	(L)	(L)	(L)
micro	0.15	0	2.56	4.07	3	3.28
small	1.67	1	11.79	21.32	17	15.81
medium	-0.31	0	52.97	112.02	93	80.28
large	-59.89	-33	162.35	754.71	524	757.24
Total	-2.66	0	43.35	54.44	6	232.91

**Table C2** – The absolute number and share of the firm-year observations that contract, do not adjust and respectively expand the labor force, by size class

			Size Class		
	micro	small	medium	large	Total
contraction	18,643	10,558	5,286	4,280	38,767
	27.28%	33.99%	48.13%	69.57%	33.26%
non	28,331	4,074	449	88	32,942
adjustment	41.45%	13.12%	4.09%	1.43%	28.27%
expansion	21,374	16,426	5,248	1,784	44,832
	31.27%	52.89%	47.78%	29.00%	38.47%
Total	68,348	31,058	10,983	6,152	116,541
	100.00%	100.00%	100.00%	100.00%	100.00%

**Table C3** – The absolute number and share of the firm-year observations that contract, do not adjust and respectively expand the labor force, considering non-adjustment any change in employment that is smaller than  $\pm 1\%$ , by size class

			Size Class		
	micro	small	medium	large	Total
contraction	18,643	10,558	5,212	4,078	38,491
	27.28%	33.99%	47.46%	66.29%	33.03%
non	28,331	4,074	602	467	33,474
adjustment	41.45%	13.12%	5.48%	7.59%	28.72%
expansion	21,374	16,426	5,169	1,607	44,576
	31.27%	52.89%	47.06%	26.12%	38.25%
Total	68,348	31,058	10,983	6,152	116,541
	100.00%	100.00%	100.00%	100.00%	100.00%

**Table C4** – The absolute number and share of firm-year observations with relative adjustments (% $\Delta L = \frac{L_t - L_{t-1}}{L_{t-1}}$ ) in different intervals, by size class

			Size Class		
	micro	small	medium	large	Total
% ΔL <=3	11,963	3,968	1,391	677	17,999
	17.50%	12.78%	12.67%	11.00%	15.44%
3<% ΔL <=1	6,372	4,371	2,166	1,615	14,524
	9.32%	14.07%	19.72%	26.25%	12.46%
1<% ΔL <0	308	2,219	1,729	1,988	6,244
	0.45%	7.14%	15.74%	32.31%	5.36%
% ΔL =0	28,331	4,074	449	88	32,942
	41.45%	13.12%	4.09%	1.43%	28.27%
0<% ΔL <=.1	181	2,224	1,365	972	4,742
	0.26%	7.16%	12.43%	15.80%	4.07%
.1<% ΔL <=.3	4,516	4,751	1,535	446	11,248
	6.61%	15.30%	13.98%	7.25%	9.65%
% ΔL >.3	16,677	9,451	2,348	366	28,842
	24.40%	30.43%	21.38%	5.95%	24.75%
Total	68,348	31,058	10,983	6,152	116,541
	100.00%	100.00%	100.00%	100.00%	100.00%

**Table C5** – The absolute number and share of two consecutive adjustments that are both negative (first column), positive followed by negative (second column), both positive (third column), negative followed by positive (fourth column), non-adjustment followed or preceded by negative or positive adjustment (fifth column), as well as the autocorrelation of the absolute change in employment (last column), by size class

	ΔL <sub>t</sub> <0;	ΔL <sub>t</sub> <0;	ΔL <sub>t</sub> >0;	ΔL <sub>t</sub> >0;	$\Delta L_t=0$ or		ΔL
	$\Delta L_{t-1} < 0$	$\Delta L_{t-1} > 0$	$\Delta L_{t-1} > 0$	$\Delta L_{t-1} < 0$	$\Delta L_{t-1}=0$	Total	autocorrelation
micro	4004	5969	5474	3428	29074	47949	-0 093
	8.35%	12.45%	11.42%	7.15%	60.64%	100.00%	-0.095
small	3754	4017	7717	2607	5735	23830	0.055
	15.75%	16.86%	32.38%	10.94%	24.07%	100.00%	0.055
medium	2819	1413	2737	1040	672	8681	0.0816
	32.47%	16.28%	31.53%	11.98%	7.74%	100.00%	0.0810
large	2869	639	829	597	132	5066	0 2202
	56.63%	12.61%	16.36%	11.78%	2.61%	100.00%	0.2392
total	13446	12038	16757	7672	35613	85526	0 2792
	15.72%	14.08%	19.59%	8.97%	41.64%	100.00%	0.2782

**Figure C21** The frequency of positive adjustments (I), non-adjustments (C) and negative adjustments (D), by year

**Figure C22** The frequency of positive adjustments (I), non-adjustments (C) and negative adjustments (D), by year and class size







Industry	micro	small	medium	large	Total
food and	28,698	12,673	3,201	1,764	46,336
drinks	61.93%	27.35%	6.91%	3.81%	100.00%
	8,352	2,697	1,649	1,541	14,239
textiles	58.66%	18.94%	11.58%	10.82%	100.00%
	12,135	4,346	2,421	1,004	19,906
apparel	60.96%	21.83%	12.16%	5.04%	100.00%
	4,769	2,001	1,216	540	8,526
leather	55.93%	23.47%	14.26%	6.33%	100.00%
	21,490	6,247	1,474	533	29,744
wood	72.25%	21.00%	4.96%	1.79%	100.00%
	9,001	3 <i>,</i> 037	634	103	12,775
typography	70.46%	23.77%	4.96%	0.81%	100.00%
rubber and	7,693	1,634	373	226	9,926
plastic	77.50%	16.46%	3.76%	2.28%	100.00%
	9,595	4,392	1,445	886	16,318
metal	58.80%	26.92%	8.86%	5.43%	100.00%
	8,561	2,490	913	466	12,430
furniture	68.87%	20.03%	7.35%	3.75%	100.00%
	110,294	39,517	13,326	7,063	170,200
Total	64.80%	23.22%	7.83%	4.15%	100.00%

**Table C6** – The absolute number and share of firm-year observations in each industry by size-class

**Table C7** – The average absolute adjustment by industry and size class

Average ΔL						
Industry	Size Class					
	micro small medium large					
food and drinks	0.19	1.54	-7.55	-53.59		
textiles	-0.02	1.38	0.12	-67.99		
apparel	0.12	2.02	5.29	0.94		
leather	-0.03	2.32	11.75	-42.04		
wood	0.17	1.99	4.78	-104.4		
typography	0.21	1.19	-4.36	-144.16		
rubber and plastic	0.04	2.07	1.08	-97.03		
metal	0.2	0.93	-6.17	-80.82		
furniture	0.2	2.4	-1.28	-78.44		

Average ΔL												
industry	1995	1996	1997	1998	1999	2000	2001					
food and drinks	-7.67	1.26	-1.9	-2.78	-3.38	-2.66	-2.47					
textiles	-32.82	-7.77	-4.8	-7.28	-9.66	-3.44	-6.28					
apparel	-1.26	0.52	4.19	1.45	0.41	1.74	1.49					
leather	-8.85	-0.53	3.55	-4.72	-2.23	3.91	0.02					
wood	-8.28	1.35	-0.89	-2.82	-1.27	-0.1	-2.15					
typography	-2.58	1.04	-0.92	-3.08	-2.58	-0.16	-0.9					
rubber and plastic	-2.92	-0.42	-1.83	-4.23	-4.64	-1.13	-1.54					
metal	-9.54	0.44	-5.67	-9.17	-9.52	-4.36	-1.9					
furniture	-4.97	-0.97	-2.2	-6.86	-3.94	-2.14	-1.03					

Table C8 – The average absolute adjustment by industry and year

Table C9 – The average number of employ	yees by industry and ownership form
---	-------------------------------------

Average L											
	0\	wnership forn	n								
industry	state	privatised	private								
food and drinks	208.61	322.52	19.62								
textiles	457.23	586.92	43.04								
apparel	204.09	950.48	47.43								
leather	2401.84	964.58	47.17								
wood	1013.93	706.29	15.49								
typography	359.71	116.77	15.01								
rubber and plastic	269.99	589.75	16.71								
metal	949.97	390.14	22.66								
furniture	541.42	496.64	27.95								

**Table C10** – The average absolute ( $\Delta$ L) and average relative (% $\Delta$ L) adjustment by industry and ownership form

	sta	ate	priva	atised	private		
industry	Av ( ΔL)	Av ( %ΔL)	Av ( ΔL)	Av ( %∆L)	Av ( ΔL)	Av ( %∆L)	
food and drinks	-46.77	-18.14%	-38.59	-10.66%	0.9	31.35%	
textiles	-92.54	-19.75%	-63.28	-9.63%	1.76	30.98%	
apparel	-93.3	-17.24%	-37.12	0.88%	2.47	29.98%	
leather	-196.06	-16.89%	-80.16	-7.88%	3.31	30.60%	
wood	-126.67	-21.00%	-75.98	-8.30%	1.11	31.17%	
typography	-68.14	-9.19%	-25.51	-10.00%	0.08	22.60%	
rubber and plastic	-39.12	-13.47%	-57.14	-10.23%	0.51	23.84%	
metal	-95.58	-12.13%	-38.57	-7.91%	-0.31	28.15%	
furniture	-120.4	-25.17%	-55.77	-7.24%	0.49	33.00%	

vear of	number of years the firm appears in the sample											
, entry	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	Total			
1994	407	664	696	774	714	796	935	8,298	13,284			
1995	560	1,072	1,204	1,029	1,024	2,172	1,749		8,810			
1996	402	647	460	696	593	1,171			3,969			
1997	821	904	2,686	2,890	1,331				8,632			
1998	377	540	321	1,488					2,726			
1999	818	488	1,209						2,515			
2000	429	245							674			
2001	91								91			
Total	3,905	4,560	6,576	6,877	3,662	4,139	2,684	8,298	40,701			

**Table C11** – The number of firms that enter in the sample each year and the number of yearsthey appear in the sample

## **APPENDIX D – ESTIMATED RESULTS**

Table D1 – Results of the Probit Model

$$action_{it} = \gamma_1 \cdot \ln(\operatorname{average\_wages}_{i,t+1}) + \gamma_1 \cdot \ln\left(\frac{\operatorname{sales}_{i,t+1}}{\operatorname{employees}_{i,t}}\right) + \gamma_3 \cdot \ln(\operatorname{average\_wages}_{i,t+2}) + \gamma_4 \cdot \ln\left(\frac{\operatorname{sales}_{i,t+2}}{\operatorname{emplyees}_{i,t+1}}\right) + \gamma_4 \cdot \ln\left(\frac{\operatorname{sa$$

+ Year\_dummi es + Size\_class\_dummi es +  $\varepsilon_{it}$ 

Table D2 – Results of the First Order Condition for the observations with downward adjustments

$$\frac{\Delta L_{ii}}{L_{i-1,i}} = \frac{1}{c^{-}} \cdot \left(b^{-} + \gamma_{1}^{'} Z_{ii}\right) + \lambda^{-} \frac{\phi \left(\gamma_{1}^{'} Z_{ii} + \gamma_{0} + b^{-} - \sqrt{2c^{-} \cdot \left(\frac{a_{0}^{-}}{L_{ii}} + a_{1}^{-}\right)}\right)}{1 - \Phi \left(\gamma_{1}^{'} Z_{ii} + \gamma_{0} + b^{-} - \sqrt{2c^{-} \cdot \left(\frac{a_{0}^{-}}{L_{ii}} + a_{1}^{-}\right)}\right)} + v_{ii}$$

Table D3 - Results of the First Order Condition for the observations with downward adjustments

$$\frac{\Delta L_{ti}}{L_{t-1,i}} = \frac{1}{c^{+}} \cdot \left(-b^{+} + \gamma_{1}^{'}Z_{it}\right) + \lambda^{+} \frac{\phi \left(\gamma_{1}^{\underbrace{\beta}}Z_{ti} + \gamma_{0} - b^{+} - \sqrt{2c^{+}} \cdot \left(\frac{a_{0}^{+}}{L_{t-1i}} + a_{1}^{+}\right)\right)}{\Phi \left(\gamma_{1}^{\underbrace{\beta}}Z_{ti} + \gamma_{0} - b^{+} - \sqrt{2c^{+}} \cdot \left(\frac{a_{0}^{+}}{L_{t-1i}} + a_{1}^{+}\right)\right)} + v_{it}$$

Table DI	- Order	red Prob	n Results	S														
	foods a	& drinks	tex	tiles	арр	arel	lea	ther	w	ood	typog	graphy	rubber a	& plastic	m	etal	furn	niture
In(average_	-0.0322	0.0052	-0.0859**	-0.0471	0.0574	0.0656*	0.0511	0.0505	0.0025	0.0111	0.0181	0.0320	-0.0891**	-0.0809*	0.0584	0.0674*	-0.0139	-0.0099
wage, (11)	(0.0217)	(0.0219)	(0.0430)	(0.0434)	(0.0357)	(0.0358)	(0.0563)	(0.0564)	(0.0273)	(0.0274)	(0.0407)	(0.0408)	(0.0443)	(0.0444)	(0.0369)	(0.0370)	(0.0479)	(0.0479)
In(sales,t+1/	0.0783***	0.0545***	0.108***	0.0848***	0.0869***	0.0843***	0.0131	0.0203	0.0309**	0.0193	0.0933***	0.0814***	0.146***	0.133***	0.146***	0.131***	0.0949***	0.0817***
employees,t)	(0.0118)	(0.0120)	(0.0232)	(0.0235)	(0.0201)	(0.0202)	(0.0313)	(0.0314)	(0.0152)	(0.0152)	(0.0261)	(0.0262)	(0.0262)	(0.0263)	(0.0207)	(0.0209)	(0.0289)	(0.0291)
In(average_	-0.0557***	-0.0241	0.0208	0.0488	0.0708**	0.0729**	-0.0259	-0.0233	0.0287	0.0381	0.0165	0.0272	0.0886**	0.0958**	0.0228	0.0318	0.0011	0.0076
wage,t+2)	(0.0203)	(0.0205)	(0.0381)	(0.0385)	(0.0323)	(0.0323)	(0.0526)	(0.0527)	(0.0261)	(0.0262)	(0.0381)	(0.0383)	(0.0422)	(0.0422)	(0.0355)	(0.0356)	(0.0447)	(0.0448)
In(sales,t+2/	0.0843***	0.0679***	0.0380*	0.0221	0.0283	0.0286	0.125***	0.123***	0.0585***	0.0541***	0.0559**	0.0558**	-0.0009	-0.0056	0.0601***	0.0520***	0.0737***	0.0635**
employees,t+1)	(0.0109)	(0.0110)	(0.0212)	(0.0215)	(0.0186)	(0.0186)	(0.0298)	(0.0299)	(0.0142)	(0.0143)	(0.0239)	(0.0239)	(0.0248)	(0.0249)	(0.0195)	(0.0196)	(0.0277)	(0.0278)
L,t-1	-0.00162***	-0.00134***	-0.000778***	· -0.000636***	* -0.000836***	-0.000698***	-0.00169***	-0.00146***	-0.00103***	-0.000923***	-0.0144***	-0.0135***	-0.000358**	-0.000291*	-0.000408***	-0.000360***	· -0.000754***	* -0.000597**
,	(0.000119)	(0.000119)	(9.74e-05)	(9.82e-05)	(9.17e-05)	(9.91e-05)	(0.000165)	(0.000195)	(0.000134)	(0.000150)	(0.00110)	(0.00112)	(0.000158)	(0.000152)	(0.000107)	(0.000110)	(0.000143)	(0.000145)
small	0.172***	0.191***	0.287***	0.314***	0.244***	0.245***	0.290***	0.283***	0.239***	0.256***	0.315***	0.308***	0.286***	0.353***	-0.0151	0.0032	0.257***	0.280***
	(0.0219)	(0.0220)	(0.0486)	(0.0488)	(0.0376)	(0.0376)	(0.0537)	(0.0538)	(0.0308)	(0.0309)	(0.0467)	(0.0469)	(0.0550)	(0.0560)	(0.0378)	(0.0379)	(0.0528)	(0.0531)
medium	-0.176***	0.165***	0.0725	0.369***	0.232***	0.234***	0.414***	0.417***	0.159***	0.272***	1.083***	1.104***	-0.1260	0.1030	-0.484***	-0.321***	-0.0320	0.162**
	(0.0387)	(0.0434)	(0.0594)	(0.0638)	(0.0495)	(0.0497)	(0.0705)	(0.0709)	(0.0551)	(0.0567)	(0.131)	(0.132)	(0.0994)	(0.108)	(0.0558)	(0.0602)	(0.0753)	(0.0814)
large	0.0498	0.499***	-0.235**	0.305***	0.588***	0.660***	0.863***	0.899***	-0.0972	0.646***	2.787***	2.880***	-0.984***	-0.439*	-0.850***	-0.467***	-0.262*	-0.0981
	(0.0803)	(0.0864)	(0.0945)	(0.104)	(0.100)	(0.103)	(0.141)	(0.142)	(0.144)	(0.168)	(0.411)	(0.430)	(0.218)	(0.237)	(0.113)	(0.128)	(0.142)	(0.150)
year 1995	0.271***	0.304***	0.0240	0.1050	0.0693	0.0706	0.173**	0.180**	0.189***	0.207***	0.0076	0.0219	0.311***	0.344***	0.273***	0.286***	0.203**	0.223**
	(0.0377)	(0.0380)	(0.0700)	(0.0712)	(0.0558)	(0.0560)	(0.0797)	(0.0798)	(0.0491)	(0.0493)	(0.0712)	(0.0714)	(0.0780)	(0.0784)	(0.0594)	(0.0597)	(0.0863)	(0.0868)
year 1996	0.407***	0.436***	0.363***	0.428***	0.234***	0.237***	0.445***	0.449***	0.400***	0.402***	0.284***	0.292***	0.430***	0.443***	0.514***	0.525***	0.451***	0.462***
	(0.0310)	(0.0313)	(0.0633)	(0.0643)	(0.0495)	(0.0496)	(0.0700)	(0.0702)	(0.0416)	(0.0417)	(0.0609)	(0.0611)	(0.0679)	(0.0681)	(0.0518)	(0.0520)	(0.0734)	(0.0737)
year 1997	0.235***	0.252***	0.292***	0.277***	0.208***	0.214***	0.316***	0.317***	0.155***	0.163***	0.0979*	0.0946*	0.263***	0.263***	0.264***	0.266***	0.338***	0.349***
	(0.0275)	(0.0277)	(0.0539)	(0.0545)	(0.0457)	(0.0459)	(0.0644)	(0.0646)	(0.0366)	(0.0367)	(0.0550)	(0.0551)	(0.0623)	(0.0624)	(0.0474)	(0.0475)	(0.0616)	(0.0619)
year 1998	0.187***	0.196***	0.0926	0.0956	0.169***	0.171***	0.1030	0.108*	0.108***	0.115***	0.0322	0.0302	0.261***	0.260***	0.158***	0.156***	0.223***	0.225***
	(0.0280)	(0.0282)	(0.0586)	(0.0593)	(0.0465)	(0.0467)	(0.0649)	(0.0651)	(0.0374)	(0.0375)	(0.0561)	(0.0562)	(0.0634)	(0.0636)	(0.0486)	(0.0487)	(0.0652)	(0.0654)
Cut 1	0.632***	1.776***	0.727**	0.0102	1.833***	-0.1360	1.372***	-0.9820	0.718***	0.497*	1.416***	-0.2990	1.226***	0.0511	2.625***	0.0826	1.340***	-0.0550
	(0.165)	(0.184)	(0.292)	(0.117)	(0.272)	(0.419)	(0.387)	(0.623)	(0.214)	(0.266)	(0.293)	(0.262)	(0.310)	(0.266)	(0.269)	(0.147)	(0.350)	(0.297)
Cut 2	1.289***	2.431***	1.365***	0.993***	2.558***	0.4970	2.036***	-0.5370	1.513***	1.665***	2.202***	0.436*	2.151***	0.878***	3.270***	0.602***	2.069***	0.631**
	(0.165)	(0.184)	(0.292)	(0.116)	(0.273)	(0.405)	(0.388)	(0.641)	(0.214)	(0.260)	(0.294)	(0.246)	(0.311)	(0.254)	(0.270)	(0.148)	(0.351)	(0.293)
privatised		0.134*		0.0102		-0.1360		-0.9820		0.497*		-0.2990		0.0511		0.0826		-0.0550
		(0.0798)		(0.117)		(0.419)		(0.623)		(0.200)		(0.262)		(0.200)		(0.147)		(0.297)
private		0.982***		0.993***		0.4970		-0.5370		1.665***		0.436*		0.878***		0.602***		0.631**
Observeti	40.400	(0.0780)	4 4 4 7	(0.110)	0.047	(0.405)	0.000	(0.041)	0.700	(0.200)	2.054	(0.240)	0.440	(0.254)	5 504	(0.148)	0.447	(0.293)
Observations	16,162	16,150	4,417	4,417	6,047	6,047	3,023	3,018	8,762	8,758	3,954	3,954	3,140	3,140	5,581	5,576	3,147	3,146

### Table D1 – Ordered Probit Results

# Table D2 – FOC for decreasing the number of employees

	foods &	& drinks	text	tiles	арр	arel	leat	ther	wo	od	typog	raphy	rubber &	& plastic	me	etal	furn	iture
In(average_ wage t+1)	0.0189***	0.0229***	-0.0014	0.0070	0.0235**	0.0250**	0.0361**	0.0375**	0.0176**	0.0204**	0.0321***	0.0307***	-0.0172	-0.0201	0.0300***	0.0361***	0.0163	0.0146
mage)(* 1)	(0.00611)	(0.00606)	(0.0114)	(0.0112)	(0.0105)	(0.0107)	(0.0153)	(0.0153)	(0.00824)	(0.00823)	(0.0106)	(0.0107)	(0.0139)	(0.0136)	(0.0102)	(0.0104)	(0.0122)	(0.0122)
In(sales,t+1/	-0.0177***	-0.0201***	0.0059	0.0040	-0.0353***	-0.0358***	-0.0467***	-0.0468***	-0.0277***	-0.0296***	-0.0352***	-0.0353***	0.0241*	0.0232**	0.0093	0.0127	-0.0049	-0.0056
employees,cy	(0.00345)	(0.00334)	(0.00591)	(0.00577)	(0.00652)	(0.00678)	(0.00800)	(0.00804)	(0.00450)	(0.00446)	(0.00700)	(0.00699)	(0.0127)	(0.0116)	(0.00811)	(0.00809)	(0.00742)	(0.00761)
In(average_	0.00942*	0.0145***	0.0058	0.0128	0.0250**	0.0255**	-0.0086	-0.0097	0.0218***	0.0246***	0.0253***	0.0246**	0.0580***	0.0646***	0.0153*	0.0183**	0.0022	0.0047
wage,(+2)	(0.00546)	(0.00538)	(0.00981)	(0.00980)	(0.00988)	(0.0100)	(0.0142)	(0.0142)	(0.00797)	(0.00803)	(0.00978)	(0.00978)	(0.0124)	(0.0126)	(0.00918)	(0.00925)	(0.0111)	(0.0110)
In(sales,t+2/	0.0213***	0.0186***	0.0152***	0.00999**	0.0121**	0.0120**	0.0225***	0.0234***	0.0174***	0.0173***	0.0009	0.0008	-0.0085	-0.0095	0.0196***	0.0206***	0.0145**	0.0141**
employees,(+1)	(0.00304)	(0.00297)	(0.00505)	(0.00502)	(0.00550)	(0.00553)	(0.00791)	(0.00807)	(0.00441)	(0.00450)	(0.00634)	(0.00634)	(0.00617)	(0.00610)	(0.00524)	(0.00521)	(0.00682)	(0.00696)
small	0.0898***	0.0971***	0.138***	0.158***	0.0601***	0.0583***	0.102***	0.104***	0.111***	0.121***	0.126***	0.126***	0.180***	0.212***	0.0836***	0.0873***	0.108***	0.121***
	(0.00703)	(0.00732)	(0.0155)	(0.0166)	(0.0137)	(0.0148)	(0.0157)	(0.0161)	(0.0113)	(0.0129)	(0.0115)	(0.0115)	(0.0263)	(0.0297)	(0.0105)	(0.0104)	(0.0168)	(0.0196)
medium	0.0862***	0.128***	0.139***	0.206***	0.125***	0.124***	0.152***	0.154***	0.136***	0.164***	0.171***	0.165***	0.156***	0.223***	0.0579**	0.0744***	0.158***	0.184***
large	0 123***	0 167***	0 121***	0.219***	0 178***	0 182***	0 201***	0.203***	0.0978***	0.218***	0.109**	0.0838*	-0.0750	0.0229)	-0.0111	0.0221)	0 191***	0 221***
largo	(0.0171)	(0.0132)	(0.0240)	(0.0172)	(0.0192)	(0.0221)	(0.0226)	(0.0253)	(0.0338)	(0.0242)	(0.0427)	(0.0434)	(0.0881)	(0.0484)	(0.0479)	(0.0368)	(0.0354)	(0.0323)
Year 95	-0.0057	0.0087	0.0287*	0.0467***	-0.0213	-0.0214	-0.0367*	-0.0352*	-0.0466***	-0.0386**	-0.0162	-0.0161	0.0586**	0.0831***	0.0563***	0.0686***	-0.0331	-0.0244
	(0.0104)	(0.0108)	(0.0152)	(0.0151)	(0.0165)	(0.0165)	(0.0200)	(0.0202)	(0.0152)	(0.0158)	(0.0180)	(0.0180)	(0.0286)	(0.0297)	(0.0171)	(0.0182)	(0.0208)	(0.0217)
Year 96	0.0622***	0.0757***	0.127***	0.150***	0.0029	0.0025	0.0060	0.0096	0.0103	0.0208	-0.0154	-0.0176	0.112***	0.130***	0.151***	0.175***	0.0218	0.0344
	(0.0105)	(0.0113)	(0.0166)	(0.0178)	(0.0162)	(0.0171)	(0.0199)	(0.0208)	(0.0173)	(0.0192)	(0.0171)	(0.0172)	(0.0349)	(0.0349)	(0.0248)	(0.0273)	(0.0249)	(0.0285)
Year 97	(0.00810)	(0.00843)	(0.0138)	(0.0140)	(0.0147)	(0.0154)	(0.0097	(0.0114)	-0.0054 (0.0115)	(0.0120)	(0.0118)	(0.0120	(0.0246)	(0.0241)	(0.0948****	(0.0161)	(0.0196)	(0.0227)
Year 98	0.0281***	0.0345***	0.0763***	0.0804***	0.0113	0.0110	-0.0093	-0.0094	-0.0006	0.0037	-0.0034	-0.0030	0.0761***	0.0849***	0.0554***	0.0609***	0.0161	0.0228
	(0.00791)	(0.00807)	(0.0134)	(0.0133)	(0.0143)	(0.0148)	(0.0159)	(0.0161)	(0.0113)	(0.0115)	(0.0149)	(0.0149)	(0.0243)	(0.0239)	(0.0128)	(0.0131)	(0.0174)	(0.0187)
Inv Mill	-0.0532**	-0.0814***	-0.155***	-0.208***	0.0345	0.0388	0.0012	-0.0107	-0.110***	-0.142***	0.0221	0.0330	-0.320***	-0.364***	-0.283***	-0.354***	-0.0493	-0.0893
	(0.0236)	(0.0267)	(0.0372)	(0.0436)	(0.0393)	(0.0503)	(0.0265)	(0.0320)	(0.0400)	(0.0496)	(0.0232)	(0.0252)	(0.103)	(0.100)	(0.0637)	(0.0713)	(0.0537)	(0.0700)
privatised		(0.0973***		0.0633*** (0.0169)		0.171** (0.0861)		0.0944 (0.0793)		0.111*** (0.0333)		-0.0287 (0.0423)		0.157*** (0.0401)		0.0338 (0.0208)		0.0930** (0.0414)
private		0.169***	Ξ	0.231***		0.177**		0.1030		0.270***		-0.0640		0.359***		0.150***		0.172***
		(0.0211)	4	(0.0329)		(0.0860)		(0.0808)		(0.0580)		(0.0420)		(0.0671)		(0.0357)		(0.0471)
Constant	-0.573***	-0.737***	-0.538***	o -0.779***	-0.552***	-0.743***	-0.327***	-0.429***	-0.446***	-0.708***	-0.511***	-0.438***	-0.560***	-0.888***	-0.803***	-1.007***	-0.545***	-0.676***
	(0.0486)	(0.0502)	(0.0779)	⊃ (0.0799)	(0.0856)	(0.132)	(0.102)	(0.130)	(0.0684)	(0.0828)	(0.0847)	(0.0971)	(0.0871)	(0.108)	(0.0923)	(0.117)	(0.0888)	(0.0967)
Observations	4,883	4,874	1,773	1,773	1,655	1,655	957	953	2,306	2,303	1,167	1,167	915	915	1,999	1,994	977	976
R-squared	0.15	0.16	0.22	0.24	0.19	0.19	0.23	0.23	0.16	0.17	0.23	0.24	0.27	0.29	0.21	0.22	0.25	0.26

# Table D3 – FOC for increasing the number of employees

	foods &	k drinks	tex	tiles	арр	arel	leat	ther	wo	od	typog	raphy	rubber &	& plastic	me	etal	furni	iture
In(average_ wage,t+1)	-0.0486	-0.0608	0.281*	0.2440	-0.1210	-0.1400	-0.1380	-0.1520	-0.0041	-0.0123	-0.127*	-0.133*	-0.2020	-0.2870	-0.317***	-0.300***	0.1710	0.1610
	(0.0569)	(0.0566)	(0.166)	(0.164)	(0.108)	(0.109)	(0.214)	(0.214)	(0.0741)	(0.0741)	(0.0721)	(0.0721)	(0.183)	(0.186)	(0.105)	(0.110)	(0.153)	(0.153)
In(sales,t+1/ employees.t)	0.133***	0.141***	0.1100	0.1470	0.0425	0.0280	-0.0574	-0.0710	-0.0244	-0.0151	0.0952*	0.0969**	-0.0308	0.1090	0.1280	0.1740	0.0646	0.0738
	(0.0341)	(0.0335)	(0.0994)	(0.0986)	(0.0660)	(0.0677)	(0.118)	(0.119)	(0.0441)	(0.0438)	(0.0491)	(0.0490)	(0.214)	(0.223)	(0.113)	(0.115)	(0.103)	(0.104)
In(average_	0.0969*	0.0880	-0.307**	-0.324**	-0.193*	-0.209*	0.443**	0.445**	0.0146	0.0092	-0.263***	-0.269***	-0.0058	0.1180	-0.0009	0.0092	-0.0440	-0.0448
wage, (+2)	(0.0554)	(0.0551)	(0.145)	(0.148)	(0.106)	(0.107)	(0.214)	(0.215)	(0.0709)	(0.0717)	(0.0672)	(0.0672)	(0.182)	(0.202)	(0.0974)	(0.0997)	(0.151)	(0.152)
In(sales,t+2/	-0.141***	-0.132***	-0.207**	-0.183**	-0.0843	-0.0910	0.0231	-0.0061	-0.0090	-0.0051	0.0233	0.0204	0.152**	0.143*	-0.0773	-0.0594	-0.193**	-0.186*
cinployees, (11)	(0.0320)	(0.0319)	(0.0806)	(0.0797)	(0.0583)	(0.0586)	(0.120)	(0.125)	(0.0428)	(0.0434)	(0.0434)	(0.0435)	(0.0776)	(0.0778)	(0.0655)	(0.0650)	(0.0967)	(0.0973)
small	-0.159***	-0.157***	-0.1140	-0.0779	0.1060	0.0542	-0.2620	-0.3340	-0.1370	-0.1480	-0.184***	-0.192***	0.1370	0.5650	-0.0782	-0.0868	0.0277	0.0167
	(0.0550)	(0.0593)	(0.186)	(0.218)	(0.114)	(0.124)	(0.189)	(0.207)	(0.0897)	(0.102)	(0.0656)	(0.0659)	(0.394)	(0.549)	(0.0846)	(0.0833)	(0.176)	(0.203)
medium	0.0797	-0.0850	0.370**	0.1660	0.1460	0.0982	0.0137	-0.0940	-0.254**	-0.345**	-0.0504	-0.0930	0.697**	0.970***	0.2130	0.0486	0.0701	-0.0532
lorgo	(0.0990)	(0.0935)	(0.182)	(0.201)	(0.132)	(0.139)	(0.227)	(0.251)	(0.117)	(0.134)	(0.110)	(0.110)	(0.313)	(0.280)	(0.390)	(0.309)	(0.206)	(0.227)
large	-0.2270 (0.188)	-0.419 (0.159)	(0.419)	-0.2110 (0.276)	-0.1450 (0.178)	-0.3310 (0.208)	(0.301)	(0.381)	(0.360)	-0.2340 (0.315)	-0.0924 (0.490)	-0.1320 (0.565)	-0.4360 (2.212)	-0.6450 (1.604)	(0.919)	-0.0156	(0.4350)	(0.449)
Year 95	0.280***	0.281***	0.3130	0.2750	0.2150	0.2010	0.2880	0.2260	0.299**	0.290**	0.1120	0.1110	0.4900	0.9460	0.1460	0.2390	0.510*	0.503*
	(0.100)	(0.107)	(0.247)	(0.256)	(0.156)	(0.158)	(0.272)	(0.281)	(0.131)	(0.138)	(0.115)	(0.115)	(0.480)	(0.589)	(0.237)	(0.272)	(0.267)	(0.279)
Year 96	0.261***	0.281***	-0.1420	-0.0861	0.1670	0.1180	-0.1480	-0.2790	0.254*	0.260*	0.1190	0.1070	0.5360	1.0760	0.2290	0.3980	0.1450	0.1460
	(0.0944)	(0.108)	(0.256)	(0.310)	(0.146)	(0.155)	(0.257)	(0.296)	(0.141)	(0.156)	(0.0993)	(0.101)	(0.618)	(0.726)	(0.368)	(0.429)	(0.286)	(0.328)
Year 97	0.183**	0.190**	-0.3550	-0.2800	-0.0700 (0.136)	-0.1170	-0.1190	-0.2150	0.1330	0.1310	-0.0591	-0.0619	0.3430	0.6560	0.1290	0.2150	0.1490	0.1470
Vear 08	-0.0272	-0.0245	-0 354*	-0 3380	-0 223*	-0 258*	-0 1700	-0 2070	-0.0489	-0.0519	-0.0422	-0.0442	0 1010	0.4010	0.0884	(0.243)	0.1960	(0.200)
rear 50	(0.0785)	(0.0818)	(0.213)	(0.216)	(0.135)	(0.140)	(0.228)	(0.231)	(0.101)	(0.103)	(0.0948)	(0.0949)	(0.404)	(0.455)	(0.165)	(0.176)	(0.226)	(0.239)
Inv Mill	-1.311***	-1.227***	-1.822***	-1.505*	-1.409***	-1.731***	-1.556***	-2.000***	-1.454***	-1.434***	-0.993***	-1.059***	-0.2830	1.4550	-1.3250	-0.8210	-1.575**	-1.554*
	(0.222)	(0.279)	(0.635)	(0.808)	(0.385)	(0.493)	(0.436)	(0.650)	(0.395)	(0.476)	(0.145)	(0.158)	(1.998)	(2.333)	(1.049)	(1.215)	(0.633)	(0.810)
privatised		-0.2380 (0.274)		-0.5630		0.5660 (1.106)		-0.8810 (2.602)		-0.0624 (1.001)		0.1820 (0.603)		-0.5040 (0.923)		-0.1460 (0.518)		0.1090 (1.172)
private		-0.3350		120.9500		-0.2100		-1.6680		-0.9250		-0.0792		1.6750		0.0363		-0.2030
		(0.348)		ပိ Д(0.885)		(1.066)		(2.703)		(1.134)		(0.578)		(1.626)		(0.844)		(1.306)
Constant	1.711***	1.950**	4.103***	ຼົ_4.541*	5.173***	6.211***	0.1670	2.8510	2.568***	3.455*	3.957***	4.222***	1.4300	-4.0970	4.2940	2.8040	2.4960	2.6120
	(0.553)	(0.868)	(1.500)	끈(2.449)	(1.217)	(1.918)	(1.627)	(3.672)	(0.901)	(1.827)	(0.586)	(0.908)	(4.591)	(6.637)	(3.159)	(4.248)	(1.746)	(2.760)
Observations	7,530	7,528	1,658	1,658	2,809	2,809	1,354	1,354	3,932	3,932	1,655	1,655	1,182	1,182	2,311	2,311	1,347	1,347
R-squared	0.03	0.04	0.04	0.04	0.02	0.02	0.03	0.03	0.02	0.02	0.09	0.09	0.03	0.04	0.04	0.04	0.03	0.03

	Table D4 –	Parameters	of the	he cost	adj	ustment	funct	ion
--	------------	------------	--------	---------	-----	---------	-------	-----

$a_0$	0.04541	0.02504	0.04161	0.02444	0.01378	0.01114	0.03801	0.05027	0.01777	0.01303	0.12640	0.08590	0.00479	0.00353	0.01028	0.00872	0.01998	0.01369
	(0.00413)	(0.00192)	(0.00672)	(0.00291)	(0.00230)	(0.00206)	(0.01227)	(0.01594)	(0.00284)	(0.00177)	(0.02120)	(0.01952)	(0.00092)	(0.00055)	(0.00145)	(0.00120)	(0.00376)	(0.00222)
a <sub>1</sub> <sup>-</sup>	0.14700	0.08151	0.08667	0.05050	0.05724	0.04643	0.13299	0.18551	0.19530	0.18028	0.23716	0.16115	0.04386	0.03237	0.04861	0.04172	0.09348	0.06423
	(0.01310)	(0.00611)	(0.01340)	(0.00733)	(0.00927)	(0.00868)	(0.04388)	(0.05489)	(0.03085)	(0.02182)	(0.03935)	(0.03645)	(0.00743)	(0.00554)	(0.00801)	(0.00863)	(0.01617)	(0.01125)
b	-1.62950	-2.60400	-1.52950	-2.54750	-2.62300	-3.05850	-3.09650	-2.49500	-2.11400	-3.63650	-3.54350	-3.91950	-1.77100	-2.49050	-3.30050	-3.73400	-2.28050	-2.57600
	(0.00419)	(0.00348)	(0.0066)	(0.0054)	(0.00459)	(0.00383)	(0.0128)	(0.0127)	(0.0067)	(0.006)	(0.0172)	(0.0161)	(0.00447)	(0.00362)	(0.0061)	(0.0054)	(0.00915)	(0.00725)
c	2.87851	3.54848	2.90463	3.29722	4.87112	4.23611	11.10654	6.66836	4.84248	5.21944	7.15267	9.39748	3.22252	2.84435	4.16770	3.72408	4.25184	3.89185
	(0.25039)	(0.25326)	(0.45710)	(0.34160)	(0.79649)	(0.84275)	(8.85792)	(5.91468)	(0.77762)	(0.61621)	(1.27339)	(2.52001)	(0.54621)	(0.37209)	(0.48001)	(0.44383)	(0.74261)	(0.59484)
$a_0^{+}$	0.11568	-0.00785	0.44419	0.22640	0.01521	-0.00368	-0.66321	-5.09060	0.11827	-0.01945	-2.74842	-1.51391	0.19474	0.01227	-0.03394	0.20383	-0.43156	-0.64827
	(0.41535)	(0.28649)	(1.06493)	(1.21769)	(0.27700)	(0.15446)	(2.14642)	(4.72723)	(0.31234)	(0.54059)	(2.01083)	(3.38302)	(0.20150)	(0.16365)	(0.81428)	(0.25343)	(1.05087)	(0.91077)
$a_1^+$	-0.38247	-0.87240	0.44415	1.08995	-0.22037	-0.56615	-8.63729	9.52135	-1.15731	-3.50694	-5.32148	0.39879	2.81311	-1.46987	0.17079	0.65487	-2.48129	3.89588
	(1.34186)	(0.64251)	(1.40803)	(2.40725)	(1.55589)	(0.92384)	(8.95111)	(21.8814)	(2.20069)	(2.72752)	(3.63326)	(6.69278)	(2.27728)	(2.78086)	(1.20179)	(1.60460)	(3.60722)	(2.79127)
$b^+$	2.28650	3.25900	2.16700	3.18900	3.34800	3.77250	3.85500	3.98450	2.90950	4.43200	5.53500	6.29000	2.69550	3.41850	3.94550	4.37650	3.01000	3.30350
	(0.00419)	(0.00348)	(0.0066)	(0.0054)	(0.00459)	(0.00383)	(0.01465)	(0.03515)	(0.0067)	(0.006)	(0.0332)	(0.03635)	(0.00447)	(0.00362)	(0.0061)	(0.0054)	(0.00915)	(0.00725)
$c^+$	0.43906	-0.15039	-0.80386	0.15737	-0.33103	0.00995	-0.37400	-0.48980	-1.71691	-0.35220	-1.67318	0.55300	0.01536	0.06606	0.21935	-2.63868	0.08863	0.19676
	(12.0602)	(7.03087)	(16.5821)	(4.85739)	(38.3838)	(3.31334)	(2.53413)	(14.6991)	(47.5004)	(3.52059)	(13.9142)	(11.0133)	(1.76696)	(2.82094)	(8.24822)	(51.1190)	(4.15048)	(3.66532)

CEU eTD Collection

						b+				
	unemployment rate	food & drinks	textiles	apparel	leather	wood	typography	rubber & plastic	metal	furniture
1995	9.50%	2.28	3.81	2.32		3.68	8.5	2.73	4.96	2.52
		(0.0138)	(0.0317)	(0.01875)		(0.02315)	(0.1255)	(0.148)	(0.0369)	(0.0056)
1996	6.60%	2.53	1.2	2.62		3.17	6.14	2.79	3.62	2.76
		(0.0074)	(0.01385)	(0.0076)		(0.0068)	(0.0665)	(0.0133)	(0.01385)	(0.01405)
1997	8.90%	2.64	1.61	2.61	1.17	4.67	4.63	3	4.18	2.22
		(0.00870)	(0.0118)	(0.0120)	(0.0325)	(0.0098)	(0.0681)	(0.0099)	(0.0117)	(0.0215)
1998	10.40%	3.23	3.01	3.63	1.61	5.17	6.64	3.09	4.08	2.85
		(0.00931)	(0.0116)	(0.0117)	(0.0245)	(0.0243)	(0.116))	(0.00125)	(0.00801)	(0.0144)
1999	11.80%	3.96	4.38			4.58	7.3	3.55	5.32	
		(0.0157)	(0.0141)			(0.0301)	(0.0741)	(0.0256)	(0.0523)	
	All years	3.26	3.20	3.77	3.98	4.43	6.29	3.42	4.38	3.30
	All years	(0.00348)	(0.0054)	(0.00383)	(0.03515)	(0.006)	(0.03635)	(0.00362)	(0.0054)	(0.00725)

CEU eTD Collection

# APPENDIX E – SHAPE AND SIZE OF THE ADJUSTMENT COSTS

**Figure E1** – The estimated adjustment cost for the firms in the sample as a function of the absolute adjustment, by industry and size class



















**Figure E2** – The distribution of firms in the sample according to the share of their yearly downward adjustment cost (left column) and upward yearly adjustment cost (right column) in the yearly wage bill





CEU eTD Collection







.2



## REFERENCES

Alonso-Borrego, Cesar. 1998. "Demand for labor inputs and adjustment costs: evidence from Spanish manufacturing firms", *Labour Economics* 5: 475-497

Anderson, Patricia M. 1993. "Linear adjustment Costs and Seasonal Labor Demand: Evidence from Retail Trade Firms", *The Quarterly Journal of Economics*, 108 (4): 1015-1042

Bartelsman, Eric J, and John Haltiwanger; Stefano Scarpetta. 2004. "Microeconomic Evidence of Creative Destruction in Industrial and Developing Countries" Tinbergen Institute Discussion Paper TI 2004-114/3 <u>http://www.tinbergen.nl/discussionpapers/04114.pdf</u> (accessed June 6, 2010)

Bentolila, Samuel and Giuseppe Bertola. 1990. "Firing costs and labor demand: how bad is eurosclerosis?" *Review of Economic Studies 57: 381-402* 

Botero, Juan C, and Simeon Djankov; Rafael La Porta; Florencio Lopez-de-Silanes; Andrei Shleifer "The regulation of labor", *The Quarterly Journal of Economics*, 119, (4): 1339-1382

Burgess, Simon M. 1988. "Employment adjustment in UK manufacturing", *The Economic Journal* 98: 81-103

Ciucă, Vasilica and Luise Mladen. 2009 "Assessing Flexicurity Policy - Case Study for Romania, National Scientific Research Institute for Labour And Social Protection – Working Paper <u>http://ssrn.com/abstract=1483061</u> (accessed June 6, 2010)

Cooper, Russell, and John Haltiwanger; Jonathan L Willis. 2003. "Dynamics of Labor Demand: evidence from plant-level observations and aggregate implications", Research Working Paper, Federal Reserve Bank of Kansas City – RWP 03-12 <u>http://www.kc.frb.org/Publicat/Reswkpap/pdf/RWP03-12.pdf - accessed 09/05/2010</u> (accessed June 6, 2010)

Earle, John S. 1997. "Industrial Decline and Labor Reallocation in Romania", The William Davidson Institute, Working paper number 118,

https://www.bus.umich.edu/KresgeLibrary/Collections/Workingpapers/wdi/wp118.pdf (accessed June 6, 2010)

Hamermesh, Daniel. 1989. "Labor Demand and the Structure of Adjustment Costs", *The American Economic Review*, 79 (4): 674-689

Hamermesh, Daniel, and Gerard Pfann. 1996. "Adjustment Costs in Factor Demand", *Journal of Economic Literature*, 34(3): 1264-1292

Lapatinas, Athanasios. 2009. "Labor adjusmtne costs: estimation of a dynamic discrete choice model using panel data for Greek manufacturing firms", *Labour Economics* 16: 521-533

Nilsen, Ovind, and Kjell Salvanes; Fabio Schintarelli. 2007. "Employment changes, the structure of adjustemtn costs and plant size", *European Economic Review* 51: 577-598

Pfann, Gerard and Bart Verspagen. 1989. "The structure of adjustment costs for labor in the Dutch manufacturing Sector", *Economic Letters* 29: 365-371

Pfann, Gerard and Franz Palm. 1993. "Asymmetric Adjustment Costs in Non-linear Labor Demand Models for Netherlands and U.K. Manufacturing sectors", *Review of Economic Studies* 60: 397-412

Rutkowski, Jan and Stefano Scarpetta. 2005. "Enhancing Job Opportunities: Eastern Europe and the Former Soviet Union", The International Bank for Reconstruction and Development/ The World Bank, <u>http://siteresources.worldbank.org/INTECA/Resources/laborstudy05-fullreport.pdf</u> (accessed June 6, 2010)

Varejao, Jose and Pdero Portugal. 2007. "Spatial and Temporal Aggregation in the Estimation of Labor Demand Functions" Working papers, Banco de Portugal, 2007 <u>http://www.bportugal.pt/en-US/BdP%20Publications%20Research/WP200704.pdf - accessed</u> <u>09/05/2010</u> (accessed June 6, 2010)

The Statistics Department of the International Monetary Fund <u>http://www.imfstatistics.org/IMF/logon.aspx?ReturnUrl=%2fIMF%2fimfbrowser.aspx%3fbr</u> <u>anch%3dROOT&branch=ROOT</u> (accessed June 6, 2010)

The National Institute of Statistics of Romania <u>http://www.insse.ro/cms/files/pdf/ro/cap3.pdf</u> (accessed June 6, 2010) <u>http://www.insse.ro/cms/files/pdf/ro/cap10.pdf</u> (accessed June 6, 2010)